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KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED
REPORT OF THE DIRECTCRS’

The directors present their report with the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2010

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY .

The Group's principal trading activiies are the extraction and processing of phosphonc ore, concentration and
processing of raw minerals, production of mineral fertihisers, yellow phosphorous and phosphorous-containing products
at mine piis and plants located in Southern Kazakhstan These products are pnmanly exported from this region

DIRECTORS
The directors who have held office dunng the period from 1 January 2010 to the date of this report are as foliows

D Abdykalykova - resigned 19" August 2011
C Mamytov - resigned 10" March 2010

G Yessenov — resigned 19" August 2011

Y Nurgozhayev — appeinted 19" August 2011
R Pshtayev - appointed 19" August 2011

REGISTERED OFFICE
3" Floar, Fairgate House, 78 New Oxford Street, London, WC1A 1HB

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FUTURE DEVELCPMENTS
The results for the year and the financral position at the year end for the Group were considered satisfactory by the
directors

Group revenue increased on a year on year basis by 25% to US$218 milllon The Group generated a net loss for the
year of US$36 million compared to a net profit of US$1 8 mullton last year

Management would like to highlight that the resuits of the Group do not properly reflect the profitabitity of the Group's
core trading activities which are carried out mainfy through the subsidiary Kazphosphate LLC During the current penod
Kazphosphate LLC generated a net profit of $1 9 milllon compared to a net loss of $12 million last year This was
achieved despite the fact that transportation costs incurred by Kazphosphate LLC increased by 65%

The increased loss generated by the Group as a whele 15 mostly the result of accounting adjustments in relation to
potential future deferred tax habibities and additional depreciation charges on revalued property, plant and equipment
Management s of the optnion that these accounting adjustments bear little relation to the profitability of the Group’s core
trading activibies

Post year end the company obtained loans totalling US$50 milion for the construction of a sulphuric acid production
facility 1o increase 1Ils production of mineral fertilisers More detail on this and other subseguent events can be found n
Note 38 on page 46

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Country nsk

The Group's operations are subject to country nsk being the economic, poltical and social nisks inherent In doing
business In Kazakhstan These nisks include matters arising from the policies of the government, economic conditions,
the )Imposition of, or changes to, taxes and regulations, foreign exchange fluctuations and the enforceability of contract
nghts

Financial risk

The Group's principal financial instruments are non-dervative and compnse of trade and other receivables, cash and
cash egquivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade and other payables The main purpose of these insiruments 1s to
raise funds for the group's operations and to finance the group’s trading actwviies

The group has exposure to credt, hquidity and market nsk Note 34 explains the Group's objectives, polices and
processes for measuring and managing these nsks

EMPLOYEES
The Group 1s comnutted to a policy of equal opportunities in employment by which the Group continues to ensure that all
aspects of selection and retention are based on mert and sutability for the job without considerations of sex, marital

-..status, nationalty, race, colour, race, ethmeity, sexual orientation or any-disability -The Group ams to maintain a diverse -

workforce free from discnmination  Persons who have or develop a disability are, where possible, given practical
assistance and training to seek to overcome ther disability in the performance of their work
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KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS'{continued)

PAYMENT POLICY

The Group does not have a formal code that it follows with regard to payments to suppliers Members of the Group
generally agree payment terms with thewr suppliers when they enter into binding contracts for the supply of goods and
services Suppliers are, in that way made aware of these lerms

Group companies seek to abide by these payment terms when they are satisfied that the supplier has provided the
goods and services in accordance with the agreed terms and conditions At 31 December 2010 the amount of trade
payables shown in the Group balance sheet represented 26 days (2009 37 days) of purchases

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The following 1s a summary of key performance indicators

2010 2009
Sales revenue growth 25% -53%
Gross profit margin 21% 21%
Return on equity -4% -2%

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The consolidated income statement for the penod 1s set cut on page 7

The directors do not recommend payment of an ordinary dividend

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES
The directors are responsible for preparing the Report of the Direclors and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations

Company law requires the directors 1o prepare financial statements for each financial year Under that law the directors
have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted for use In the European Unien Under company law the directors must nat approve the financial statements
unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and the company and of the
profit or loss of the group for that penod  In prepanng these finantial statements, the directors are reguired to

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,

make judgements and accountng estimates that are reasonable and prudent,

state that the financial statements comply with IFRS,

prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it 1s inappropriate to
presume that the company will continue in business

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounfing records that are sufficient to show and explam the
company's and the group’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any lime the financiat position of the
company and the group and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and the group and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other wregularties

STATEMENT AS TO DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO AUDITORS

So far as the direclors are aware, there is no relevant audit information (as defined by Section 418 of the Compames Act
2006) of which the group's auditors are unaware, and each director has taken all the steps that he or she ought to have
taken as a director in order to make himself or herself aware of any relevant audit infformation and to establish that the
group's auditors are aware of that information

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

fer—

Y Nurgozhayev - Director
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
OF KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED

We have audited the financial statements of Kazphosphate Limited for the year ended 31 December 2010, which
compnse the Group and Parent Company Statements of Financial Position, the Group Statement of Comprehensive
Income, the Group and Parent Statements of Cash Flows, the Group and Parent Company Stalement of Changes in
Equity and the refated notes The financial reporting framework that has been applied in therr preparation 1s apphcable
law and International Financia! Reporting Standards (IFRSs} as adopled for use in the European Union, and as regards
the parent company financial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006

This report 1s made solely to the company’s shareholders, as a body, In accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006 Our audit work has been undertaken so that we rmight state to the company's shareholders those
matters we are required to state to them mn a Report of the Auditor and for no other purpese To the fullest extent
permitled by law, we do nol accept or assume responsibiity 10 anyone other than the company and the company's
shargholders as a body, for our audit work, for this repent, or for the opintons we have formed

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Respensibilites sel out on page 3, the directors are responsible for
the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair iew Our responsility 1s
to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements 1N accordance with applicable law and International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's
Ettucal Standards for Auditors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaiing evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from materal misstatement, whether caused by fraud or
error This includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group's and parent
company's crcumstances and have been consistently appled and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by the directors, and fhe overall presentation of the financial statements

Basis for qualified optnion on financial statements

On 1 January 2009 the Group changed Its accounting policy for cost of inventory from weighted average to Fust in First
Out (FIFO) method and applied this change prospectively In our opinion, this is not in accordance with JAS 8 Accounting
pelicies, changes in accounting estimates and errors The Group's accounting system does not allow determining
amount of cost of inventory based on FIFQ method as of 31 December 2009 We are unable to quantfy effects of this
matter on the cost of sales and income 1ax expense for 2010 and balances of income tax and retamned earnings as of 31
December 2010 by other audii procedures Consequenltly, we are nat able to determine whether any adjustments to
these amounts would be required

Qualified oplnion on financial statements
In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters descnbed in the Basis of Qualified Opinion paragraph

+ the financial statements gwve a true and far view of the state of the group’s and the parent
company's affars as at 31 December 2010 and of the group's loss for the year then ended,

= the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted
for use in the European Union, and

» the parent company financral statements have been properly prepared m accordance with IFRS as
adopted by the Eurcpean Union and as applied in accordance with the prowvisions of the
Companies Act 2006, and

*+ have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

Opinicn on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinien the information given in the Report of the Directors for the financial year for which the financial statements
are prepared 1s cansistent with the financial statements
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE SHAREHQLDERS
OF KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In respect solely of the imitation on our work relating to cost of sales and income tax expense for 2010 and balances of
Income tax and retained earnings as of 31 December 2010 as descnbed above

* we have not obtained all of the Information and explanations that we considered necessary for the purpose of
our aud,

* we were unable to determine whether adequate accounting records had been kept

We have nothing to repart in respect of the following matters where the Comparnies Act 2006 requires us to report to you
if, In our opinion

+ returns adequate for our audit have not been recetved fram branches not visited by us, or

» the parent company financial statements are not In agreement with the accounting recerds and
returns,

* certain disclosures of diectors' remuneration specified by law are not made, or

» we have not received all the information and explanations we requirg for our audit

MRJAV\ ~ AP

Yogan Pate! {Seruor Statutory Auditer)

for and on behalf of Macintyre Hudson LLP
New Bndge Street House,

30-34 MNew Bndge Street,

London

ECavéBJ

P Wovembe 2o

Date
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KAZPHSOPHATE LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Note Group Company Group Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
In thousands of US doilars 2010 2010 2009 2009
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Goodwill 5 2,770 - 2,770 -
Property, plant and equipment 8 418,756 3z 441,026 43
Intangible assets 7 61,837 - 67,175 -
Investments In associate and joint venture 8 922 - 153 -
Other non-current assets 9 813 - 1,579 -
Resiricled cash 9 96 - 79 -
Long term receivables 18 - 37 -
Invesimenis 10 - 141,096 - 141,096
Total non-current assets 486,212 141,128 512,819 141,139
Current assets
Invenlones 11 56,487 - 57,790 -
Trade and other recelvables 12 22,482 58 14,905 102
Prepayments 710 - 1,188 15
Loans receivable 13 2,745 - 3,237 -
Taxes receivable 14 4,982 - 86,676 -
Current Income tax prepayments - - 3,646 -
Cash and cash equivaients 15 412 23 829 2
Total current assets 87,798 81 88,270 119
TOTAL ASSETS 574,010 141,209 601,088 141,258
EQUITY
Calted up share capial 16 g8 98 98 o8
Retained earnings 284,674 (758) 320,692 (511)
Foreign exchange translation reserve {21,828) - (10.564) -
Other reserves (705} - (1,043) -
Revaluation surplus 38,543 - 38,543 -
TOTAL EQUITY 300,782 {(660) 347,726 {413)
LIABILITIES
Non-current ltabilities
Deferred income tax hiability 17 74,281 - 51,802 -
Provision for asset retiremeant ebhigations 18 3,293 - 2,903 -
Provision for social development of the region 33 568 - 666 -
Employee benefits 19 637 - 981 -
Total non-current habilities 78,779 - 56,152 -
Current habihties
Borrowings 20 172,697 141,584 174,356 141,339
Interests payable 167 - 267 -
Trade and other payables 21 14,448 22 16,840 72
Advances received 2,776 - 2,543 -
Accruals 132 117 24 1356
Provision for unused vacation and bonuses 1,773 - 1,605 -
Employee benefits 19 81 - 62 -
Provision for social development 33 113 - 113 -
Income tax habihty 255 143 125 125
Other taxes payable 22 2,007 3 1,276 -
Total current lrabilities 194,449 141,869 197,211 141,671
TOTAL LIABILITIES 273,228 141,569 253,363 141,671
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 574,010 141,209 601,089 141,258
Approved;and signed on behalf of the Board of Directors and Management on \G‘" \ 1 2011

Y Nurgozhaysv - Director

Director
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KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

in thousends of US dolfars Note 2010 2009
Revenue 23 219,847 176,123
Cost of sales 24 (173.614) (138,424)
{impawrment of property, plant and equipment)f reversal of

impairment 6 {921) 177
Gross profit 45,312 37,876
Other operating income 25 728 200
Cisinbution costs 26 (33,803) (23,638}
General and administrative expenses 27 (18,884) (28,981)
Other operating expenses 28 {140) {110}
Negative goodwill - 21,000
Cperating profit (6,787) 6,347
Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain (1,886) 1,704
Finance income 29 1,099 2,567
Finance costs 29 (5,731) (18,438)
Share of profit of joint venture 434 238
Share of loss of associate (11) -
Loss before income tax (12,882) (7,582)
Income tax benefit/{expense) 30 (23,136) 9,408
(Loss)profit for the year (36,018) 1,826
Other comprehensive income

Land revaluation - {100,972)
Income tax recorded m equity - 15,148
Actuana! pension gain/{loss) 19 338 (325)
Foreign exchange translation (11,264) (29,031)
Other comprehensive income for the year {10,926) {115,182)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR (46,944) (113,358)
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KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

In thousands of US Dollars Actuarial Revaluation
Foreign gains/ reserve on
exchange losses on property
GROUP Share translation pension plant & Retained Total
capital reserve habihty equipment earnings oquity
Balance 1 January 2009 98 18,467 {718) 124,389 318,866 461,082
Total comprehensive iIncome . (29,031) {325) (85,826) 1,826 (113,356)
Balance 1 January 2010 98 (10,564) {1,043) 38,543 320,692 347,726
Total comprehensive mcome - (11,264) 338 - (36,018) (46,944)
Balance 31 December 2009 98 (21,828) (705) 38,543 284,674 300,782
COMPANY Retained Total
Share capital earnings equity
Balance at 1 January 2009 98 {21,211) (21,113)
Total comprehensive ncome - 20,700 20,700
Balance as at 31 December 98 {511) (413)
2009
Total comprehensive income - (247) (247)
Balance at 31 December 2010 98 (758) (660)
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KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Group Company Group Company
in thousands of US Ooffars 2010 2010 2009 2009
Cash flow from operating activities
Proceeds from sales 216,695 - 178,153 330
Value added tax refund 18,390 48 7.073 53
Cash return from suppliers 1,704 5 3,757 -
Other 443 20 533 -
Payments to suppliers and contractors (185,855) (257) (114,301) (748)
Payroll expense (22,914) {(18) (23,388} 20)
Budget settiements (10,847) - {15,466) -
Non-budgetary payment settlements (3,703) - (2,826) -
Interest paid (4,913) - (5,530) -
Restrncted cash {231} - (27} -
Qthers (1,957) - (1,462) -
Tax paid {2) (2) 77 (77)
Foreign exchange transaction difference {5) 1 (35} 5
Net cash received from operating activities 6,805 (203} 26,004 (457)
Cash flow from Investing activities
Interest received 4 - 776 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and eguipment 30 - 4 -
Repayment of loan receivable 1,542 27 2,760 -
Other receipts 336 - 86 -
Acquisition of property, plant and egquipment (6.082) - (6.582) -
Acquisition of fixed asset investments - - {2,794) -
Acquisition of intangible assels (N - (80) -
Loan disbursed and financial aid provided to related parties (1,527} (68) {18,677} (72)
Net cash used in investing activiies (5,698) {a1) {24,487} {72)
Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds from loans and borrowings 145,770 8,644 96,87C 8,687
Repayment of loans and borrowings (146,959) (8,379) (107,119) (8,245)
Other (334) - - .
Net cash used in financing activities (1,523) 265 (10,249) 442
Net (decrease)increase in cash and cash
equivalents {416) 21 (8,732) (87)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 828 2 9,560 89
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 412 23 828 2
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KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2010

1. The Group and its Operations

These group financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
for the year ended 31 December 2010 for Kazphesphate Limuted (the “Company™)

Kazphosphate Limited 1s a company incorporated in England and Wales The group financial statements consolidate
those of the company and its subsidiaries (logether referred to as 2 group) The parent company financral statements
present Information about the company as a separate entily and not as a group

2. Basts of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of preparation The financial statemenis have been prepared and approved by the direclors in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) In publishing the parent company financial statements here
together with the group financial statements, the company has taken advantage of the exempfion in 5408 of the
Compantes Act 2008 not to present its individual iIncome statement and related notes that form part of these approved
financial statements

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for property, piant and equipment, mventories
and intangible assets that are stated at their farr values All amounts have been rounded to the nearest US$1000
except as otherwise indicated

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS, International Accounting Standards (IAS)
and refated IFRIC nterpretations in issue that have been endorsed by the European Commussion and are effective at
31 December 2010

Preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain accounting estimates and
assumplions If also requires management to exercise its Judgement in the process of applying the Group's accounting
poltctes The areas involving a higher degree of Judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimales
are significant to the financial statements are disclosed \n note 3

Going concern The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis even though at the year end
the Group had net current liailites amounting to US$106,651,000 {2009 USS 108,941,000) The directors have
concluded that a matenal uncertainty exists that casts significant doubt upon the Graup's ability to conlinue as a going
concern and that, therefore, the Group may be unable to realise its assels and discharge its liabthties in the normal
course of business However, the directors have reviewed cash flow forecasts and trading expectations for the next 12
months from approval of these financial statements, and are confident that the Group will be able to meet its current
liabihiies Therefore the directors conlinue to adopt the gomng concern basts of accounting

The parent company financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis as group companies have agreed o
continue to provide such financial support as will be required for the parent company to meels its ocbligations as they
fali due for at least ihe next 12 months from the approval of these financial statements

Functional and presentation currenicy The funchonal and presentation currency of the Group 158 US dollars (*USD”)
All amounts In these group financial statements are presented in thousands of USD except where stated otherwise
The functional currency of the company's Dutch subsidianes s Euros and the functional currency of the Kazakh sub-
subsidianes 1s Kazakhstan Tenge

Foreign currency transactions Transactions 1n foreign currencies are translated to USD at the exchange rates at the
dates of the transaclions Monetary assets and habithties denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are
transtated to USD at the exchange rate at that date Non-monetary assets and habililes denominated n foreign
currencies that are measured at faw value are transiated to USD at the exchange rate at the date that the fawr value
was determined Foreign exchange differences ansing on translaton are recognsed i the statement of
comprehensive income The exchange differences arising upon consolidation on retranslation from a functional
currency other than USD are recognised as a separate component of equity

Property, plant and equipment Property, plant and equipment 1s stated at fair value less accumulated depreciabion
and impairment losses, where required The fair value of land 15 determined under periodic revaluation conducted by
independent appraisers

The cost includes all expenses directly refated with the purchase of a relevant asset The cost of assets construcied
using Its own resources includes the cost of used matenals, direct labour costs, other expenses directly related with
asset delivery and put it into operation for the intended use, and expenses on asset dismantiing and transfer and site
restoration The software purchase cost inseparably associated with functtonality of corresponding equipment 1s

Page | 10




KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — 31 DECEMBER 2010

2. Basls of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies {continued)

The mdwidual significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment (components), whose useful lives are
different from the useful ife of the given asset as a whole are depreciated indwvidually, applying depreciation rates
reflecting thewr anticipated useful ives Cost of replacing major paris or componenis of property, plant and equipment
items are capiiahsed and the replaced part 1s retired

Subsequent costs are included In the asset’s carrying amount or recogmsed as a separate asset, as appropnate, only
when 1t 1s probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will low 1o the Group and the cost of the
ltem can be measured reliably Al other repair and maintenance cosls are charged o profit or loss for the year durnng
the reporting penod 1n which they are incurred

Gans and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment determined by comparnng proceeds with its carrying
amount are recognised in profit or loss for the year

Stripping costs Stnpping (1 e overburden and other waste removal} costs incurred i the development of a mines and
open pits before production commences are capitahsed as part of the cost of constructing the mine and subsequently
amorlised over the hfe of the operation mmes and open piis The stripping costs incurred subsequently dunng the
production stage of its operations are included in the cost of mventory

Land revaluation Land 1s subject to revaluation with sufficient regulanty to ensure that the carrying amount does not
differ matenally from that which would be determined using far value at the end of the reporling pertod Increases in the
carrying amount ansing on revaluation are credited to other comprehensive mcome and increase the revaluation surpius
in equity Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are recognised in other comprehensive mcome and
decrease the previously recognised revaluation surplus n equity, all other decreases are charged to profit or foss for the
year The revaluation reserve in equity 1s transferred directly to retainad earnings when the revaluation surplus is realised
on the retrement or disposal of the asset

Depreciationn Each tem of property, plant and equipment 1s depreciated using the straight-ine methed over its
estimated useful hfe, and depreciation charge i1s included in profit or loss for the year Land and consiruction in
pregress are not depreciated The depreciatton is charged to profit or loss for the year and determmed using the
strarght-ine method over the estimated useful life of the item of praperty, plant and equipment

The expected useful ives of property, plant and equipment in the reporting and comparative pertods are as follows

Useful ives in years

Buildings and constructions 3-50
Machinery and equipment 7-10
Vehicles 6-10
Other assets 8-14

The residual value of an asset 1s the estimated amount that the Group would currently obtain from disposal of
the asset less the estimated costs of disposal, if the asset was already of the age and in the condition expected at the
end of its useful Ife The residual vatue of an asset 1s nil if the Graup expects to use the asset unil the end of its
physical hfe The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted f appropriate, at each reporting
date

Impawment The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment and all other non-financial assets are reviewed for
imparrment if there 1s any indication that the carrying amount may not be recoverable

When a review for impairment 1s conducted, the recoverable amount 15 assessed by reference to the higher of
"value in use” (being the net present value of expected future cash flows of the relevant cash generating umit) and
“fair value less costs to sell” (lhe amount obtanable from the sale of an asset or cash generaling unit m
an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable, willing parttes, less the costs of disposal) Where there 1s no
binding sale agreement or active market, farr value less costs to sell 1s based on the best information avaltable to
reflect the amount the Group could recewve for the cash generating unit in an arm's length transaction
A cash generating unit 1s the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or assets groups

If the carrying amount of the asset exceeds s recoverable amouni, the asset is impaired and an wnpayment loss 1s
charged to the profit and loss so as to reduce the carrying amount n the statement of financial posiion
to its recoverable amount A previously recognized impairment |oss 1s reversed If the recoverable amount increases as
a result of a reversal of the condiicns that ongmnally resulted in the wnparment This reversal 1s recognized n
profit'or loss™for the year and 1s imited to the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation,
had no impatrment loss been recognized in pnor years
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KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — 31 DECEMBER 2010

2, Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Intangible assets All intangible assets are stated at fair value less accumulated amortisation and imparment loss,
where required Intangible assets include capitalised software hcenses, software products, mining nghts, rent
entitlements and capitalised costs on social program financing

The cosl includes all expenses on acquisition and implementation of intangible assets Intangible assets are amort:sed
using the straight-ine method over their useful ives, as follows

Useful lives in years

Licenses 6-20
Rent 10
Software 5-6
Goodwill indetermmate
Other, including subsurface use rights and nghts for groundwater extraction 3-25

If imparred, the carrying amount of intangible assets 1s written down to the higher of value in use and far value less
costs {o sell

Mineral nghts are measured at fair value less accumulated amortisalion and impairment iosses based on perodic
valuations by the directors The cost of acquisihon of mineral nghts compnses the signature bonus, commercial
discovery bonus, the cost of subsurface use nghts and captalised expenditures on sogal sphere financing and
professional education

As part of the cost of acquisition of the mineral nights, the Group 1s committed 1o finance social sphere programmes
which benefit the wider community in the region These costs will not benefit the Group directly but are compulseory
under ihe acquisiion terms These social costs are recognised as par of ine cost of acquisibon upon inital recognition
with a corresponding hability recognised at the present value of future social costs dunng the penod of exploration and
production

As pan of the cost of acquisition of mineral nghts, the Group 1s committed to finance training programmes for the
professional education of employees to become spectalists, which will benefit the wider community in the region as
well as the Group The educalion costs are recognised as part of the acquisition cost, with a corresponding hiabiiity
equal to the present value of estimated payments for education during the pernod of exploration and production
Mineral nghts are amortised to profit and loss using the unmits-of-production method based upon proved reserves
commencing when phosphoric ore s first extracted

Goodwill 13 not amortised as 1t 15 considered {0 have an indeterminate useful e Goodwill 1s reviewed annuatly for
indicattons of imparrment with any impairment losses recogrtsed in the statement of comprehensive income No
Impairrment was recognised in respect of Goodwill dunng the current period

Basis of consolidation Subsidianes are fully consohdated from the date on which control 1s transferred to the group
Control exists when then the group has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financizl and operating poitcies of
an entity so0 as to obtain benefils from its activiies They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases The
purchase method of accounting 1s used 1o account for the acquisiiion of subsidianes by the group

Identfizble assets acquired and habiliies assumed 1n a business combination are measured imtially at their farr values
at the acquisition date

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets, habiites and contingent liabilities 1s recorded as Goodwill [f the cost of acquisition 1s less than the fair value of
the group's share of the net assets of the subsidhary acquired, the difference is recognised direclly in profit and loss

All intra-group transactions, balances income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation Umiform accounting
policies are applied by the group compames {o ensure consistency
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KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2010

2. Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Inventories Inventories are recorded at the lower of cost and net realisable value The cost of inventory is determined
by FIFO method and includes inventory purchase cosls, production or processing costs and other costs on nventory
delivery to therr destination and bnnging them to a relevant conditien

Net realisable value 1s the estimated seling price n the ordinary course of business, less the cost of completion and
selling expenses

Financial instruments

(1} Key measurement terrms Depending on ther classification financial instruments are carned at far value or
armortised cost as descnbed below

Fair value 1s the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a hability settled, between knowledgeable, willing
parties in an arm'’s length transaction Fair vaiue 1s the current bid price for financial assets and current asking price for
financial habilives which are quoted in an active market For assets and habiities with offsetting market risks, the Group
may use mid-market prices as a basis for establishing fair values for the offsetting risk positions and apply the bid or
askmg price to the net open position as appropriate A financial instrument 1s regarded as quoted In an active market if
quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange or other institution and those prices represent
actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm's length basis

Valuation techniques such as discounted cash flow models or models based on recent arm’s length transactions or
consideration of financial data of the investees are used to far value certain financial instruments far which external
market pricing information 1s not avaidable Valuaton techniques may require assumptions not supported by observable
market data Disclosures are made in these separate financial statements f changing any such assumptions to a
reasonably possible alternative would result in significantly different profil, income, total assets or fotal habilies

Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attnbutable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial
instrument An incremental cost 1s one that would not have been incurred if the transaction had not taken place
Transaclion costs include fees and commssions paid to agents {(including employees acting as seling agents),
adwvisors, brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory agencies and secunities exchanges, and fransfer taxes and duties
Transaction costs do not include debt premiums or discounts, financing costs or mnternal administrative or hoiding
costs

Amortised cost 1s the amount at which the financial instrument was recognised at imitial recognition less any principal
repayments, plus accrued interest, and for financial assets less any wnte-down for incurred mparment losses
Accrued interest includes amoriisation of transacten costs deferred at imval recognition and of any premium or
discount to matunly amount using the effective interest method Accrued interest ncome and accrued inlerest
expense, including toth accrued coupon and amortised discount or premium {including fees deferred at ongination, Jf
any), are not presented separately and are included in the carrying values of related ttems in the statement of financial
position

The effeclive mterest method 1s a method of allocating interest iIncome or interest expense over the refevani pertod so
as to achieve a constant penodic rate of interest (effective interest rate) en the carrying amount The effectve interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts esttmaled future cash payments or receipts {excluding future credit losses}
through the expected hfe of the financal instrument or a shorter penod, f approprate, {o the net carrying amount of the
financiat instrument The effective interest rate discounts cash flows of vanable interest insiruments to the next interest
re-pricing date except for the premium or discount which reflects the credit spread over the floating rate specified 1n the
instrument, or other vanables that are not resel to market rates Such premetums or discounts are amortised over the
whole expected hfe of the Instrument The present value calculation includes all fees pard or receved between partes
to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate

() Classificatton of financial assets The Group has only one measurement category of financial assets which are
loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are unquoted non-denvative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments other than
those that the Group intend to sell in the near term Loans and recevables of the Group included 1n {he statement of
financial position as trade receivables, loans recewvable, cash and cash equivalents and restrcted cash
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KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2010

2 Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financral instruments (continued)

{ni} Classification of financial habiifies The Group's financial habilittes represent financial liabilities carned at amortised
cost The financial rlabihties in the statement of financial positon ncluded borrowings and trade payables

(v} Imtal recogrution of financial mstruments Financial assets and habiities are mmitially recorded at fair value plus
transaction costs Fair value at inittal recogrition 1s best evidenced by the transaction price A gain or loss on mhal
recognition 1s only recorded If there 1s a difference between fair value and transaction price which can be evidenced by
other observable current market transactions in the same Instrument or by a valuation technique whose inputs include
only data from observable markets Subsequently, the carrying amount of borrowings s adjusted considering an
amortisation gainfloss, amortisation 1s recorded as interest income/expenses by using effective interest method

Trade receivables Trade receivables are inthally recorded al far value plus transaction costs Trade recewables are
subsequently carned at amortised cost using the effective interest method less impairment provision A provision for
impairment of trade recevables Is established when there 1s objective ewdence that the Group will not be able to
collect all amounts due according to the onginal terms of receivables Presented below are indicators of the trade
receivables iImpairment

-~ any portion of the recewvable 1s overdue and the late payment cannot be altnbuled to a delay caused by the
settlement sysiems,

- the counterpanty expenences a significant financial difficulty as evidenced by its financial information that the
Group obtains,

- the counterparty considers bankruptcy or a financial reorganisation,

- there s adverse change in the payment status of the counterparly as a result of changes in the national or
local economic condrtions that impact the counterparty,

- the value of collateral, significantly decreases as a result of deteriorating market conditions

Imparrment losses are always recagnised through an allowance account to write down the asset's carrying amount lo
the present value of expected cash flows (which exclude fulure credit losses that have not been jncurred) discounted
at the onginal effective interest rate of the asset The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows
of a collateralised financial asset reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less cosls for obtaiming and
selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable

Carrying amount of an asset 15 decreased against the allowance account and the loss amount 1s recagrised in profit or
loss for the year within general and admimistrative expenses Uncollectable trade recevables are written off aganst the
trade receivables provisions The amount of recovered loss 1s recogrised 1n profil or loss for the year within general
and administrative expenses

Cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, depeosits held at call with banks, and
other short-term highly liquid invesiments with ongmal matunties of three months or less Balances restricted from
beng exchanged or used to seftle a liability for at least twelve months after the reporling date are included in other
non-current assets

Prepayments A prepayment is recogrised in the group financial statements at cost less provision for imparment
Prepayments paid to suppliers for future supphes of property, plant and equipment are presented within other non-
current assets Prepayments for future supplies of invenlones are presented within other current assels Foreign
curency denominated prepayments for goods and services represent the non monetary items, and accordingly, are
stated at the exchange rate at the prepayment date, and are not subject to revaluation at the reporting date If there Is
an indication that the assels, goods or services relating to a prepayment will not be received, the carrying value of the
prepayment is writlen down accordingly, and a corresponding impanment loss (s recognised n profit or loss for the
year

Provision for assets retirement obhigations Asset retirement obligatiens are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, 1t 1s probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefils will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can
be made Retrement costs include landfill site restoration and closure (dismanthng and demolition of infrastructure and
the removal of residual matenals and remediation of disturbed areas)

Provistons for estimated costs of restoration, reclamation and rehabiitation works are provided for and recogrised in

the cost of property, plant and equipment.n.the_accounting penad when.the.obligaton anse, based.anthe.net present .— ...

value of estimated future costs
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KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — 31 DECEMBER 2010

2. Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Provisions for assets retirement obhigation do not include any additional obligations which are expected lo arnse from
future disturbance The costs are estimated on the basis of a closure and restoration pian The cost estimates are
caleulated annually duning the hie of the operation to reflect known developments, e g updated cost estimates and
rewssions {o the estimated lives of operations, and are subject {o formal review at regular ntervals

The Group estimates their costs based on feasibiity and engineering studies using the current technical restoration
standards and technigues for conducting restoration and remediation works

The amortisation or "unwinding” of the discount applied n establishung the net present value of provistons is charged to
profit or loss for the year in each reporting pencd The amorbisation of the discount is shown as finance costs

Other movements n the provisions for assets retirement obligation, resulting from new disturbance as a result of
updated cost estimates, changes to the estimated lives of operations and revisions to discount rates are capitalised
witfun property, plant and equipment These costs are then depreciated over the lives of the assets to which they relate
using the depreciation methods applhiad to those assets Movements in the provisions for asset retirement obligations
that relate to disturbance caused by the production phase are charged to profit or loss for the year

Where restoration and remedtation works are conducted systematically over the life of the operation, rather than at the
time of closure, prowision s made for the estimated outstanding continuous remediation work at each reporting date
and the cost 1s charged to the profit and loss for the year

Borrowings Borrowings are mtially recorded at far value mcluding transaction costs and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method

Borrowings are classified as current labilites unless the Group has an unconditional nght to defer settlement of
the hability for at least twelve months after the reporting date

Caprtalisation of borrowing costs Borrowing costs directly atinbulable to the acquisition, construction or productien
of assets that necessarily take a substantal time to get ready for intended use or sale {(gualified assels) are capitalised
as part of the costs of those assets, If the commencement dale for capitalisation 1s on or after 1 January 2009 Pnor to
1 January 2009 all borrowing costs were expensed

Capitalisation of borrowing costs continues up to the date when the assels are substantially ready for their use or sale

The Group capialses borrowing costs that could have been avoided i it had not made capital expenditure on
qualfying assets Borrowmng costs capitalised are calculated at the Group's average funding cost (the weighted
average interest cost Is applied to the expenditures on the qualifying assets), except to the extent that funds are
borrowed specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset Where this occurs, actual borrowing costs
ncurred less any investment iIncome on the temporary investment of those borrowings are capitalised

Operating leases Where the Group 1s a lessee 1n a lease which does not fransfer substantally all the nsks and
rewards incidental to ownership from the lessor 1o the Group, the total lease payments are charged to profit or loss for
the year on a straight-line basis over the lgase term The lease term Is the non-cancellable peniod for which the lessee
has contracted to lease the asset together with any further terms for which the lessee has the opten to continue fo
lease the assel, with or without further payment, when at the inception of the lease it 1s reasonably certain that the
lessee will exercise the option

Trade payables Trade payables are accrued when the counterparly performed Its obligations under the contract At
imutal recognition, the Group recogrises trade payables at far value Subsequently trade payables are camed at
amortised coslt using the effective interest method

Value added tax (“VAT") Value-added lax related to sales 1s payable to the tax authonties when goods are shipped or
services are rendered Input VAT ¢an be offset against output VAT upon the recept of a tax invoice from a suppler
Tax legislation allows the settlement of VAT on a nef basis Accordingly, VAT related 1o sales and purchases unseiiled
at the reporting date 1s stated in the statement of financial position on a net basis

income taxes Income tax expense compnses current and deferred tax income {ax expense 1s recognised in profit or
loss except to the exient that it relates to items recognised directly to equity, in which case it 1s recognised in equity

Current tax s the amount expected (o be paid to or recovered from the taxation authonties 1n respect of taxable profits
or losses for the current and pnor periods Taxable income or losses are based on estmates where the separate
financial statements are authonsed prior to the filing of the relevant tax return Taxes, other than on income, are
recorded within operating expenses
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KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — 31 DECEMBER 2010

2. Basls of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies {continued)

Deferred mcome tax 1s provided using the balance sheet hability method for tax loss carry-forwards and temporary
differences ansing between the tax bases of assets and habihlies and thew carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes The deferred income tax 1s not accounted for if it anses from mitial recogmition of an asset or habiity in a
transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the {ransaction affects neither accounting nor {axable
profit nor loss

Deferred tax balances are measured at corparate ncome profit tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date which are expected 1o apply to the period when the temporary differences will reverse or the tax loss
carry forwards will be utilised

Delerred tax assets for deductible temporary differences and tax loss carry-forwards are recorded only to the extent
that it 1s probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the deductions can be utihsed

The Group’s uncertain tax posttions are reassessed by management at every reporting date Liabiiies are recorded
for income tax positions that are determined by management as more Lkely than not to result in addiional taxes being
levied 1f the positions were to be challenged by the tax authoriies The assessment 1s based on the mierpretation of
tax laws that have been enactad or substantively enacted by the reporting date and any known court of other rulings
on such ssues Liabihties for penalties, mierest and taxes other than on income are recogrused based on
management's best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obhgations at the reporting date

Accounting estimates and prior pertod errors Management has made a number of judgments, eslimaies and
assumphions relating o the reporting of assets and habiities and the disclosure of contingent assels and liabilities to
prepare these financial siatements in conformity with IFRS  Actual resuits may differ from those estimates

Estimates and underlying assumptions are rewiewed on an ongoing basis Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognmised in the penod in which the estimates are revised and in any future penods affected In accordance with the
requirements of IAS8 matenal pnor period errors are restated retrospectively

Revenue recognition Revenues from sales of goods and services are measured al the fair value of the consideration
recewved or recelvable, except for trade discounts and VAT Revenues are recogrsed al the pont of transfer of nsks
and rewards of ownership of the goods to a buyer normally when the goods are shipped

When the faur value of goods received I1n a barer transaction cannot be measured reliably, the revenue 1s measured at
the farr value of the goods or service given up

Revenue from services 1s recognised In the same reporling penod in which the service 1s performed by applying the
proparuon of actuzl services performed to date from total services to be provided under the contract Interest ncome s
recogrised over the finance penod using the effective interest rate method

Barter transactions Some purchase transactions are performed through non-cash barter transactrons Usually these
{ransactions wmply mixed goods exchange with ultimate customers

Purchase transactions to be paid using non-cash barter are recoghized based on the managemenls’ estimate of farr
value of the asset which will be receved or transferred as a result of non-cash settlement The fair value 18 determmed
on the basis of open market information Non-cash transaclions are notincluded in the statement of cash flows

Payroll expense and related contributions Wages, salares, social tax contnbutions to pension and social insurance
funds, paid annual leave and sick feave, bornuses, and non-monetary benefits are accrued in the period in which the
assocrated services are rendered by the employees of the Group

Enmployee benefits The Group provides the long term employee benefits to employess before, on and after
retirement The agreement provides for one-off retirement payments, financial aid for employees’ disability, significant
anniversanes and funerat aid to the Group's employees The entitiement to some benefits 1s usually cond:ional on the
employee remaiung in service up to retirement age and the completion of a minimum service perod Such benefils are
valued consistently with an unfunded defined benefit plan m accordance with 1AS 19 Employee Benefits
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KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — 31 DECEMBER 2010

2, Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

The expected costs of the benefits associaled with one-off retrement payments are accrued over the perod of
employment using the same accounting methodology as used for defined benefit post-employment plans For defined
benefit post-employment plans, the difference between the fair value of the plan assets (if any} and the present value
of the defined liabiities obiigatrons 1s recogrised as an asset or llabilty on the statement of financial position The
hability recognised in the statement of financial position 1n respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present value
of the defined benefit obhgation at the end of the reporting period less the farr value of plan assets, together with
adjustiments for unrecogmised past-service costs The defined benefit obligation s calculated annually using the
projected unit credit method  Actuanal gains and losses arising 10 the year are taken to other comprehensive income
For this purpose, actuanal gams and losses comprise bolh the effects of changes in actuanal assumptions and
expenence adiustments ansing because of differences between the previous actuarial assumptions and what has
actually occurred

The most significant assumptions used i accounting for given long-term benefils are the discount rate and
average labour turnover rate assumptions The discount rate 15 used to determine the net present value of future
lrabiibies and each year the unwinding of the discount on those labilitias 1s charged to the profit or loss for the year as
interest cost

Employee benefits other than one-off retirement payments are considered as other long-term employee benefits The
entitiement to these benefits 1s usuaily conditional on the completion of a minimum service period The expected cost
of these benefits 1s accrued over the period of employment using the same accounting methadology as used for
defined henefit penston plans

Offsetting Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial postion
only when there 1s a legally enforceable right to oifset the recognised amounts, and there 15 an nlention to either selite
on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the hability simultanecusly

Finance income and costs Finance income and costs comprise interest expense on borrowings and loans payable,
deposils, interest income/expense from unwinding of discount on provision for asset retirement obligations and on
other financial assets and habilhes, net foreign currency gains/{loss) related with borrowings

Share capital Assets contributed to share capital are recognised af fair value as the contnbution date Any excess of
the asset farr value over the nominal value of the share capital contribution at the legai registration date 1s credited
directly to equity as share premium
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KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2010

3. Cntical Accounting Estimates and Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

The Group makes estirmates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and habilities within the next
financial year Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on management's expsrience and
other factors, including expectations of fulure events that are believed {o be reasonable under the circumstances
Management also makes certain judgements, apart from those involving estimations, in the process of applying the
accounting polictes Judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recogmised n the financial
statements and estimates that can cause a significant adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabihiies within
the next financial penod includes

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment,
Employee benefiis,

Provisions for site restoration,

Impairment of property, plant and equipment,
Transactons with related parties,

Land revaluation,

Determination of functional currency,

Fair value of finanoial instruments,

Deferred tax assets

Valuation of mining nghts

Carrying value of goodwill

Useful hives of property, plant and equipment The estmation of the useful ives of items of property, plant and
equipment ts a matter of judgment based an expenence with similar assets The fulure economic benefits embodied in
the assets are consumed prncipally through use However, other factors, such as techmcal or commercial
obsclescence and wear and tear, often resuli in the diminution of the economic benelfits embodied n the assets
Management assesses the remaining useful ives in accordance with the current technical condittons of the assets and
estimated period duning which the assets are expected to earmn benefits for the Group The foltowing primary factors are
considered (a) expecied usage of the assets, (b) expected physical wear and tear, which depends on operaticnal
factors and maintenance programme, and (¢) lechnical or commercial obsolescence ansing from changes in market
conditions

Employee benefits The most significant assumptions appled for accounting of these long-term liabiiies are discount
rate and estimated staff turnover which are presented in Note 19 on page 32 The discount rate 1s used to determine a
present value of the benefit obhgation of future habities, and each year unwinding of discount for such liabiities 1s
recogrised 1n the statement of comprehensive income as interest expenses The assumption on staff lurnover 1s used
to forecast future benefit payment flow which 1s discounted to receive a present value of the benefit ohligation of
habhties

Provisions for assets retirement obligation In accordance with the environmental legislation and contracts on
subsurface use, the Group has a tegal obhgation to remediate damage caused to the environment from its operations
and to decommission its assets and restore a landfill site after ts closure Provision 1s made based on net present
values for site restoration and rehabilitation costs as soon as the obhigation anses from past activities The prowision for
assets retmrement obligation is esttmated based on the Groug's interpretation of current environmental legislation and
the Group's related program for hgudation of subsurface use conseguences on the contractual temiory and ofher
operalions supported by the feasibility study and engineering researches i accordance with the existing rehabilitation
standards and techniques Prowisiens for assets retirement obligations are subject to polental changes in
environmental regulatory requirements and the interpretation of the legisiation Provistons for assets retrement
obligations are recognised when there is a certainty of incurnng those and when it s possible to measure the amounts
rehably

As at 31 December 2010, the carrying amount of the provision for restoration of phosphonc ore fields was US dollars
$3.225 thousand (2009 USS$ 2,840 thousand), the carrying amount of the provision for restoration of groundwater
fields was US dollars 368 thousand (2009 USS 63 thousand)

Impairment of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets In accordance with I1AS 36 “Imparment of Assets”,
the Group reviewed the carrying amount of property, pfant, equipment and intangible assets 1o determine the existence
of any indications of impairment of such assets

in accordance with 1AS 38 the consohdated loss ansing n the year may be considered a potenbat indicator of
impairment However Group management can confirm that the consolidated loss anses due to ugher depreciation and
amortisation charges recognsed in the Group financial statements as a result of the fair value gamns recognised in
2007 n relation 1o property, plant, equipment and intangible asse!s only And the increased deferred tax expense
arising from the higher carrying value of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets.than would anse under the
hustornic cost basis Depreciation, amoritsation and deferred lax charges are accounting adjustments that the Group
management believe do not reflect the true profitability of the core business activities of the Group
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KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — 31 DECEMBER 2010

3. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies (continued)

Imparrment of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets (contnued) in the opimion of management this 1s
evidenced by the fact that the Group’s main trading subsidiary Kazphosphate LLC within which all of the Group's
property, plant, equipment and intangible assets reside, aclually generated a net profit for the year 1n its standalone
financial statements of $1,916 thousand Accordingly no impawment loss has been recogrised in respect of property,
plant, equipment and intangible assets

The global financial recession was also considered by the management as the factor of impairment of property, plant
and equipment Accordingly, as at 31 December 2010 the carrying ameunt and estimated recoverable amount of the
Group's property, plant and equipment was reviewed

To determine the discounted futwe cash flows, the Group's strategic planming models have been used
{applying the value In use method, as (dentfied in accordance with IFRS) and thus, the Group assessed
the possibulity for recovery of the carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment These models were prepared
on the basis of the terms of phosphonc ore subsurface use contracts, since such pericds correctly reflect the long-term
nature of the Group's assets

Related party transactions In the normal course of business the Group enters into transactions with its related
parites IAS 38 requires wnibal recogrition of financtal instruments based on their farr values Judgement s applied in
determuning If transactions are priced at market or non-market interest rates, where there 15 no active market for such
transactions The basis for judgement s pnicing for simitar types of transactions with unrefated parties

Land revaiuation Land owned by the Group is stated at fair value based on repors prepared by an international
valuation company Due to the nature of the land, the fair value of the land 1s estmated based on comparable market
data The pnncipal assumption underlying the estimation of the fair value 1s thai refated to the adjustments 1o 1he size
of land plots

Determination of functional currency The functional currency of the Group 1s the currency of the pnmary economic
envtronment in which the enbty operates The pnmary economic environment in which an entity operates 1s normally
the one in which it pnmartly generates and expends cash An eniity's management considers various factors in
determiring its functienal currency (1) the currency that dominates the determunation of the sales price, (11) the currency
that mos! influences operating costs, (nf) the currency in which an entity's financing 1s denominated, {iv) considerations
of the autonemy of a foreign operation from the reporting entity and the level of transactions between the two, as well
as other factors as required by IAS 21

When the above tndicators are mixed and the functional currency 18 not obvious management use its judgment to
determine the functional currency that most farthfully represent the economic effects of the underlying transactions,
events and conditions Management gives prionty to the currency most affecting sales prices and operaling casts
before considerng the currency most relevanl to the financing of an entity and the degree of aulonomy and
independence The (atter factors are designed fo provide additional supporting evidence n delermining an enfity’s
functional currency

An analysis of the functional currency showed that the functional currency of the Group s US dollars Indicators for
determinung functionat currency are muxed for the Group However, management appled judgment and has chosen US
dollars as the functional currency because certain sales, sigrificant portien of capital expendiures and operation
expendiiures and some debt sources are denominated (n US dollars Management televes that the US doflar most
appropnately reflects the currency with the most influence over the Group's operations

Fair value of financial instruments The management of the Group uses 1ts judgment to select a vaniety of methods
and venfy assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions existing at each reporing date in determining the
fair value of the Groug's financial Instruments

Deferred Income tax asset recogmtion The recognised deferred tax asset represents income taxes recoverable
threugh future deductions from taxable profits and is recorded in the stalement of financial pesition Delerred ncome
lax assels are recorded to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefit 1s probable The future laxable profits
and the amount of tax benefits that are probable i the future are based on medium term business pian prepared by
management and extrapolated results thereafter The business plan s based on management expectations that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumsiances

Mmming nights Mining nghts represent subsoill contracts between Kazphosphate LLC and the government of the
Republic of Kazakhstan These give Kazphosphate LLC mineral extraction nghts which are for a sel period These are
intangible assets recognised in the consolidated financial statements on the basis of an independent valuation report
by Deloitte LLP Kazakhstan and are amoriised over the average length of the entitled extraction period of 15 years

Goodwrll This 1s reviewed annually for indicalions of imparment with any impairment lasses recogmsed n profit or
foss No impairment was recogmised n respect of Goodwll duning the current periog, for further explanation see Nole
5
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4. New Accounting Pronouncements

{a) Standards, amendments and interpretations effective from1 January 2010

IFRIC 17, Distribution of Non-Cash Assets to Owners The amendment clanfies when and how distnbution of non-
cash assets as dividends to the owners should be recognized An entity should measure a hability to distnbute non-
cash assets as a dividend to its owners at the fair value of the assets to be distnbuted A gain or loss on disposal of the
undistributed non-cash assets will be recognized in the statement of comprehensive income when the entity settles the
dividend payable IFRIC 17 does not have any impact on this financial statement

IFRIC 18, ‘Transfers of Assets from Customers The interpretation clanfies the accounting for transfers of assets
from customers, namely the circumstances in which the defintion of an asset 1s met, the recognition of the asset and
the measurement of its cost on inihial recognition, the identification of the separately 1dentifiable services (one or more
services in exchange for the transferred asset), the recognition of revenue, and the accounting for transfers of cash
from customers This interpretation did not have any impact on this financial statement

IAS 27 (Revised), Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements The revised IAS 27 requires an entity to
attnbute total comprehensive income to the owners of the parent and to the non-controlling interests (previously
“minonty interests”) even if this results in the non-contrelling Interests having a deficit balance ( the previous standard
required the excess losses to be allocated to the owners of the parent in most cases) The revised standard specifies
that changes in a parent's ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result In the loss of control must be accounted
for as equity transactions It also specifies how an entity should measure any gain or loss ansing on the loss of control
of a subsidiary

At the date when control 1s lost, any investment retained in the former subsidiary has to be measured at its fair value

IFRS 3, Business Combnations (revised January 2008, effective for business combinations for which the acquisition
date 1s on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting penod beginning on or after 1 July 2008) The revised
IFRS 3 allows entities to choose to measure non-controlling interests using the previous IFRS 3 method (proportionate
share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets) or at farr value The revised IFRS 3 i1s more detalled in providing
guidance on the application of the purchase method to business combinations The requirement to measure at farr
value every asset and hiability at each step in a step acquisition for the purposes of calculating a portion of goodwill has
been removed Instead, in a business combination achieved n stages, the acquirer has to remeasure its previously
held equity interest in the acquiree at its acquisition-date far value and recognize the resutting gan or loss, if any, in
profit or loss for the year Acquisition-related costs are accounted for separately from the business combination and
therefore recognized as expenses rather than included in goodwill An acquirer has to recognize a liability for any
contingent purchase consideration at the acquisition date Changes in the value of that liability after the acquisition
date are recognized In accordance with other applicable IFRSs, as appropriate, rather than by adjusting goodwill The
revised IFRS 3 brings into its scope business combinations involving only mutual entities and business combinations
achieved by contract alone The revised IFRS 3 did not have a matenal impact on these financial statements

Improvements to International Financial Reporting Standards (1ssued in April 2009; amendments to IFRS 2,
1AS38, IFRIC 9 and IFRIC 16 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009, amendments to
IFRS 5, IFRS 8, IAS 1, 1AS 7, IAS 17, IAS 36 and IAS 39 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2010) The improvements consist of a mixture of substantve changes and clanfications in the following
standards and interpretatons clanfication that contrbutions of businesses n common contro! transactons and
formation of joint ventures are not withun the scope of IFRS2, clanfication of disclosure requirements set by IFRS 5 and
other standards for non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale or discontinued operations
requinng to report a measure of total assets and liabilities for each reportable segment under IFRS 8 only if such
amounts are regularly prowided to the chief operating decision maker, amending IAS 1 to allow classification of certain
labilities settled by entity’s own equity instruments as non-current, changing IAS 7 such that only expenditures that
result in a recognized asset are eligible for classification as investing activites, allowing classification of certain long-
term land leases as finance leases under IAS 17 even without transfer or ownership of the land at the end of the lease,
providing additional guidance in IAS 18 for determining whether an entity acts as a pnneipal or an agent, clanfication in
IAS 36 that a cash generating unit shall not be larger than an operating segment before aggregation, supptementing
IAS 38 regarding measurement of fair value of intangible assets acquired in a business combination, amending IAS 39
{1) to mclude i its scope opten contracts that could result In business combinations, (2) to clanfy the period of
reclassifying gains or losses on cash flow hedging instruments from equity to profit or loss for the year and (3) to state
that a prepayment option 1s closely related to the host contract if upon exercise the borrower reimburses economic loss
of the lender, amending IFRIC 9 to state that embedded denvatives in contracts acquired in common control
transactions and formation of joint ventures are not within its scope, and remowving the restrichion 1n IFRIC 16 that
hedging nstruments may not be held for sale under IFRS 5 in case of a loss of controt over a subsidiary published as
part of the Annual Improvements to International Financial Reporting Standards, which were 1ssued in May 2008, are
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4 New Accounting Pronouncements {continued)

effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009 The amendments did not have a matenal impact on
these financial statements

Unless otherwise stated above, the amendments and interpretations did not have any significant effect on the Group’s
financial statements

Certain new standards and interpretations have been 1ssued that are mandatory for the annuat penods beginning on or
after 1 January 2011 or later and which the Group has not early adopted

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments Part 1 Classification and Measurement IFRS 9 i1ssued in November 2009 replaces
those parts of IAS39 relating to the classification and measurement of financial assets

IFRS 9 was further amended in October 2010 to address the classification and measurement of financial habilitles Key
feature of the standard are as follows

- Financial assets are required to be classified into two measurement categories those to be measured
subsequently at far value, and those to be measured subsequently at amortized cost The decision 1s to be
made at inibal recogniton The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing its
financial instruments and the contractual cash flow characternistics of the instrument

- An instrument 1s subsequently measure at amortized cost only If it 1s a2 debt instrument and both (1) the
objective of the entity’s business model 1s to hold the asset to collect the contractual cash flows, and (2) the
asset's contractual cash flows represent only payments of principal and interest ( that 1s, it has only “basic
loan features™ All other debt instruments are to be measured at fair value through profit or loss

- All equity iInstruments are to be measured subsequently at farr value Equity instruments that are held for
trading will be measured at fair value through profit or loss For all other equity Investments, an irrevocable
election can be made at initial recognition, to recognize unrealized and realized farr value gains and losses
through other comprehensive income rather than profit or loss There Is to be no recycling of fair value gains
and losses to profit or less This election may be made on an instrument-by-instrument basts Dividends are to
be present in profit or loss, as long as they represent a return on investment

- Most of the requirements n IAS 39 for classification and measurement of financial abilties were carned
forward unchanged to IFRS 9 The key change 15 that an entity will be required to present the effects of
changes in own credit nsk of financial habilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss in other
comprehensive Income

The Group I1s considering the implication of the standard, the impact on the Group and the hming of its adoption by the
Group

Amendment to IAS 24, Related Party Disclosures (i1ssued in November 2009 and effective for annual penods
beginning on or after 1 January 2011) |AS 24 was revised I1n 2009 by (a) simplifying the defimtion of a related party,
clanfying its intended meaning and eliminating mconsistencies, and by (b) providing a partial exemption from the
disclosure requirements for government-related entittes The Group does not expect the amendments to have any
matenal effect on its financial statements

IFRIC 19, Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments (effective for annual penods beginning on or
after 1 July 2010) This IFRIC clanfies the accounting when an entity renegotiates the terms of its debt with the result
that the hability 15 extinguished through the debtor 1ssuing it own equity instruments to the creditor A gain or loss 1s
recognized n profit or loss based on the farr value of the equity instruments compared to the carrying amount of the
debt The Group does not expect IFRIC 19 to have any matenal effect on its financial statements ]

Improvements to International Financial Reporting Standards (i1ssued in May 2010 and effective from 1 January
2011) The improvements consist of a mixture of substantive changes and clarifications in the following standards and
interpretations  1FRS 1 was amended {1) to allow previous GAAP carrying value to be used as deemed cost of an item
of property, plant and eqguipment or an intangible asset If that item was used in operations subject to rate regulation, (2)
to allow an event driven revaluation to be used as deemed cost of property, plant and equipment even if the
revaluation occurs during a penod covered by the first IFRS financial statements and (3) to require a first-ime adopter
te explain changes in accounting policies or in the IFRS 1 exemptons between its first IFRS intenm report and its first
IFRS financial statements, IFRS 3 was amended (1) to require measurement at far value (unless another
measurement basis I1s required by other IFRS standards) of non-controling interests that are not present ownership
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4. New Accounting Pronouncements {continued)

interest or do not entitie the holder to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation, (2) to provide
guidance on a acquiree’s share-based payment arrangaments thal were not replaced or were voluntanly replaced as a
resull of a business combination and (3) to clanfy that the contingent considerations from business combinations that
occurred before the effective date of revised IFRS 3 (issued i January 2008) will be accounted for in accordance with
the guidance in the previous version of IFRS 3, IFRS 7 was amended to clanfy centain disclosure requirements, in
particular (1) by adding an explicit emphasis on the interaction between qualitatve and quantitative disclosures about
the nature and extent of financial nsks, (2) by remowving the requirement to disclose carrying amount of renegotiated
financial assets that would otherwise be past due or imparred, (3) by replacing the requirement to disclose fair value of
collateral by & mere general requirement to disclose its financial effect, and (4) by clanfying that an entity should
disclose the amount of foreclosed collateral held at the reporling date and not the amount obtained during the reporting
penod, IAS 27 was amended by clanfying the transthon rutes for amendments to IAS 21, 28 and 31 made by the
revised IAS 27 (as amended i January 2008), IAS 34 was amended o add additional examples of significant events
and transactions requinng drsclosure in a condensed interim financial report, including transfers between the levels of
fair value hierarchy, changes in classification of financial assels or changes in business or economic environment ihat
affect the fair values of the entity's financial instruments, and IFRIC 13 was amended to clanfy measurement of farr
vaiue of award credits The Company does neot expect the amendments to have any matenal effect on its financial
statements

Disclosures-Transfers of Financial Assets- Amendments to IFRS 7 (1ssued in October 2010 and effective for
annual pericds beginning on or after 1 July 2011} The amendment requires addiional disclosures in respect of nsk
exposures ansing from {ransferred financial assets The amendment requires additional disclosures in respect of nsk
exposures ansing from transferred financial assels The amendment includes a requirement 1o disclose by class of
asset the nature, carrying amount and a description of the nsks and rewards of financial assets that have been
transferred to another party yet remain on the entity's balance sheet Disclosures are alsc required to enable a user to
understand the amount of any associated lizbilities, and the relalionship between the financial assets and associated
habiites Where financial assets have been derecogrzed but the entity 1s still exposed to certain nisks and rewards
associated with the transferred asset, additional disclosure ts required 1o enable the effects of those risks to be
understood The Company is currently assessing the impact of the amended standard on disclosures in its financial
statements

Unless otherwise descnbed above, the new standards and interpretations are not expected to significantly affect the
Company's financial statements

5. Goodwill

Positive goodwilf on consohdation has ansen from the Group's invesiment in its subsidiary Lamberto LLC, where the
cost of acquisition exceeded that company’s nel assets at the date of acquisition by $2,770 thousand Lamberto LLC
also has a 50% shareholding in a joint venture company Agroctumiya LLC and therefore in the management's opinion
this goodwill relates to the Lamberio — Agrochimiya sub-group The management does not believe that this goodwil
requires impairment in the current period as Lamberto LLC generated a net profit of $315 thousand and the Group's
share of Agroctumiya’s profit was $434 thousand Together this sub-group contnbuted $749 thousand of profit to the
Group and therefore the value of goodwill fairly reflects the value that these compames add to the group In
accordance with IAS 36 the management believes that the recoverable amount (based on continued value in use) In
relation to goodwill 1s greater than its carrying value
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6. Property, Plant and Equipment

GROUP

Movements in the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment were as follows

Builldings Machinery
and and Other Construction
In thousands of US Dollars Land constructions equipment assels 1N progress Total
Cost or revalued amount at 213,818 235,843 115,970 23,999 7,327 596,957
1 January 2009
Addtions - - - - 16,436 16,436
Disposals - @ (102) (4 (N (109)
Transfers - 1,661 7,393 5,417 (15471) -
Revaluation (100,972) - - - - (100,972)
Balance at 31 December 112,846 237,502 123,261 30,412 8,291 512,312
2008
Accumulated depreciation - 14,856 24,711 4,128 2,028 45,723
at 1 January 2009
Depreciation - 14,271 11,504 2,321 (2,028) 26,068
Disposals - 29) (292} 9 - (3230}
Impairment/{Reversal of - 2 - - (177 (175)
impairment)
Accumulated depreciation - 29,100 35,923 5,440 (177) 71,286
at 31 December 2009
Cost or revalued amount at 112,848 237,502 123,261 30,412 8,291 512,312
1 January 2010
Addifions 51 5 91 1 8,657 8.705
Lisposals (24) (13) (107) (187} (47 (378)
Transfer - 3,492 4,063 1,588 (9,143) -
Balance at 31 December 112,873 240,986 127,308 31,814 7,658 520,639
2010
Atcumulated depreciation - 29,100 35,923 6,440 (177 71,288
at 1 January 2010
Depreciation - 13,840 12,277 2,793 - 28,910
Disposals - {13 (105} (116) {234)
Transfers - (8) (556) 564 - -
Imparrments/{Reversal of - 452 92 3 374 921
Impairments}
Accumulated depreciation
at 31 December 2010 - 43,371 47,631 3,684 197 100,883
Carrying amount at
31 December 2010 112,873 197,615 79,677 22,130 7,461 419,756
Carrying amount at
31 December 2009 412,846 708,402 87,338 23,972 2,468 444,826
Depreciation charge
In thousands of US doflars Note 2010 2009
Cost of sales 24 9,256 8,775
Work in progress and Finished goads 15,368 13,605
General and administrative expenses 27 1,333 1,726
Distribution costs 26 2,953 1,962
Total depreciation 28,910 26,068
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6 Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

Addiions of property, plant and equipment dunng 2010 were US $8,705 thousand (2009 US $16,436 thousand) and
represent purchases in accordance with the Group's investment program focused on production capacity maintenance
and equipment replacement, as well as current production modernization

As at 31 December 2009 {and, buildings, machinery and equipment carned at US $17,305 thousand (2008 US
$12,427 thousand) have been pledged as collateral for borrowings recerved from HSBC Bank Kazakhstan SC JSC,
Alfa-Bank SB JSC and Development Bank of Kazakhstan JSC

COMPANY
in thousands of US doffars Machinery and
equipment
Cost/Valuation
Balance at 1 January 2009 77
Balance at 31 December 2009 77
Balance at 1 January 2010 77
Disposals (2)
Balance at 31 December 2010 75
Depreciation
Balance at 1 January 2009 21
Imparrments 3
Depreciation charge 10
Baiance at 31 December 2009 34
Balance at 1 January 2010 34
Depreciation charge 9
Balance at 31 December 2010 43
Net book vailue
At 31 December 2010 32
At 31 December 2009 43
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7. Intangible Assets

GROUP

The movements in the cost of intangible assels are presented below

In thausands of US dollars Licenses
and Mining Rent

Software Other rights entitiements Total
Valuation
Balance at 1 January 2009 527 148 74,484 1,701 76,840
Additions 47 821 - - 868
Disposals (8) . - - (8)
Balance at 31 December 2009 586 868 74,464 1,701 77,700
Additions 7 2 - - g
Disposals @ - - - (2)
Balance at 31 December 2010 571 971 74,464 1,701 717,707
Amortisation
Balance at 1 January 2008 71 B4 4,964 170 5,289
Amortisation g2 268 4,964 170 5,242
Disposals (6) - - - (8)
Balance at 31 December 2009 147 110 9.928 340 10,525
Amortisation a5 127 4,564 170 5,346
Disposals (1) - - - )]
Balance at 31 December 2010 231 237 14,892 510 15,870
Net carrying amount
At 31 December 2010 340 734 59,572 1,191 61,837
At 31 December 2009 419 869 64,536 1,361 67,175

Software includes capitalized costs of purchasing the ERP SAP program wath the nght of use and other goods that are

required for Group’s operational activiies

Amortisation of US $5,346 thousand (2009 US $5,242 thousand) has been charged to general and administrative

expenses

As at 31 December 2010 other intangible assets :nclude capitalized costs on soctal program financing on the amount of US

$681 thousand (2009 US $770 thousand) according to the phosphoric ore and ground water extraction contracts

8 Investments in associate and joint venture

In thousands of US dollars

Jomnt venture Associate Total

Cost 1 January 2009 - - -

Additions to investment 1 - 1

Share of profit In 2009 237 - 237

Dwvidends receved (85) - (85)

Carrying value 31 December 2009 153 - 153

Additrons to investment - 346 348

Share of profit/(foss) in 2010 434 (11 423

© "~ Dwidends received - - B
Carrying value 31 December 2010 587 33s 922
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9. Other Non-current Assets

Other non-current assels represent prepayments on purchased properly, plant and equipment and services rendered for
Increase 1n property, plant and equipment cost Prepayments mainly relate to the Group’s invesiment projects, such as
construction of a workshop for the production of sulphunc acid, granulated sodium triphosphate and edible phosphoric acid

Restncted cash

In accordance with contractual terms, Kazphosphate LLC transfers cash to a long-term bank deposit account to finance site
restoration in future At 31 December 2010, the tolal balance on special deposit was USS 96 thousand (2009 USS 79

thousand} The effective interest rate on this cash duning 2010 was 4 1% {2009 4 1%)

10. Company Investments

Shares in

subsidiary
In thousands of US dollars undertakin gs
Cost
1 January 2009 120,096
Additions 21,000
Balance 31 December 2009 141,096
1 January 2010 141,096
Additions -
Balance 31 December 2010 141,096
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2010 141,096
At 31 December 2009 141,096

The carrying value of the Company's investments m its subsidianes 1s reviewed annually for impairment by comparing
the carrying value to the Company's share of the net assets of is subsidianies Therefore singe the Company’s share
of the net assets of its substidianies exceeds the carrying value of the investment management does not recognise any

provision for impairment

The Company's investments at the balance sheet date 1n the share capital of companies are as follows

Country of Holding
Company name incorporation Nature of business Class of shares %
InterTherm B V Netherands Holding company Ordenary 100
EnergeTherm BV  Netherands Heolding company Qrdinary 100
The Company also has an indirect shareholding in the following companies
Country of Holding
Company name incorporation Nature of business Class of shares %
Kazphosphate LLC Kazakhstan Miring and chemical produchon Ordinary 100
Lamberto LLC Kazakhstan Crop protection manufacturing Ordinary 100
NutroPhos LLC Kazakhstan Production of industnal explosives Ordwnary 49
and dnlling
ChemFos LLC Kazakhstan Exploration and processing of ravs Ordinary 70
minerals
Agrochimiya LLC Kazakhstan Pesticide and fertilizer production Ordinary 50
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11. Inventories

in thousands of US dollars 2010 2009
Raw matenals 19,155 25,256
Work 1n progress 18,528 16,437
Finished products 15,041 16,147
Goods for resale 7,759 4,966
Goods in transit 285 -
Less provisions for obsolete and slow-moving inventory (4,282) (5.016)
Total inventories 56,487 57,790

Inventories expensed in the year of US$ 85,947 thousand (2009 US$ 85,947 thousand) and charged to cost of

sales

Finished products m the amount of US$ 5,257 thousand (2009 US$ 4,449 thousand) have been pledged as

collateral for borrowings with HSBC Bank Kazakhstan

Analysis of movements in provision for obsolete and slow-moving inventory

| in thousands of US dollars

! GRQUP

t Qther recevables

2010 2009
Balance at 1 January (5.016) (5,466)
Provision made dunng the year (825) {270)
Amounts written off during the year 1,559 720
Balance 31 December {4,282) {5,016)
12, Trade and Other Receivables
In thousands of US doflars 2010 2009
Financial assets
Trade receivables 20,498 18,301
Less provision for impatrment loss (2,286) {3.536)
Total financial assets 18,210 14,765
Non-financial assels
4,939 193
Less provision for impairment loss (687) {53)
Total non-financial assets 4,252 140
Total trade and other receivables 22,462 14,905
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12. Trade and Other Receivables (continued)

The ageing analysis of trade recewvables classified as financial assets as of 31 December 2009 and 31 December
201015 as follows

In thousands of US dollars 2010 2009

Current and not impaired 9,135 3,519

Past due but not impaired

- 30 to 90 days overdue 6,194 3,300

- 90 1o 180 days overdue 780 2,531

- 180 to 360 days overdue 1,918 5,004

- over 360 days overdue 185 -

Total past due but not impaired 9,075 10,835

indrvidually deterrmined to be impaired (gross)

- 360 days overdue 3566 3,946
- over 360 days overdue 1,830 1

Total indwvidually impaired 2,286 3,947

Total trade receivables 20,496 18,301

Less impairment loss provision (2,286) (3,536)
Total trade receivables, net 18,210 14,765

Trade recewables that are current and not impaired represent debtors with good quality credit history and good
reputation and low risk of defaull of payments

Analysis of movements in the impairment loss provision for trade and other receivables

In thousands of US doflars 2010 2009
Balance at 1 January (3,589) {1,056)
Provision made during the year 1,246 (3.649)
(Increase)/ decrease in provision duning the year (630) 1,118
Balance 31 December (2,973) (3,589)

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies

in thousands of US dollars 2010 2009
US Dollars 11,818 7716
Tenge 1,717 3.011
Russtan Rubles 4675 4,038
Total trade and other receivables 18,210 14,765

As at 31 December 2010, current and future frade receivables in the amount of US$ 45,397 thousand (2009 USS
9,082 thousand} have been pledged as collateral for borrowings from JSC SB HSBC Bank Kazakhstan and SB JSC
Alfa-Bank

COMPANY

in thousangds of US dollars 2010 2009
QOther recewables - 23
VAT - 19
Called up share capital not paid 58 60
Tetal trade and other receivables 58 102
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13 Loans Recewvable

In accordance with the loan agreements all loans recewable by the Group as at 31 December 2010 and 31
December 2009 are interest free with matunties of less than cne year The carrying amount and farr value of the

lcans receivables are as follows

2010 2009
Carrying Carrying
in thousands of US dollars amount Fair value amount Fair value
Company Daryn LLP 2,745 2,745 2.855 2.855
Kant JSC - - 382 382
Total loans receivable 2745 2745 3.237 3.237

Loans recevable represents debt of companies without a credit rating, but their reliabiity 1s determined by the Group
based on long-term cooperation with these compantes and their good credit history The loan recevable from Daryn

LLP 15 denominated in Kazakh Tenge

14 Taxes Recewvable

In thousands of US dolfars 2010 2009
VAT refund 4,485 6,502
Other 497 174
Total taxes receivable 4,982 6,676

The VAT refund represents a current asset of input VAT resulting from purchase of goods and services In the
Republic of Kazaknhstan Since 2009 on a quarterly basis the Group's subsidiary Kazphosphate LLC arranges for
recover of input VAT under the simplified scheme In 2010 Almaty City Medeu District Tax Department conducted a
tax audil in relabion to the accuracy of the VAT assessments and payments for the reporting perieds in 2009 and the
first half of 2010 Based on this audl, no significant addiional tax amounts have been assessed by the state tax
authonfies Group management beleve that the VAT will be fully refunded durning 2011, accordingly, the VAT refund

15 classified as a current asset

15. Cash and Cash Equivalents

GROUP

in thousands of US dollars 2010 2009
Cash m bank, USD - 749
Cash in bank, Tenge 277 46
Cash in bank, RR a3 19
Cash in bank, GBP 24 2
Cash on hand 18 12
Total cash and cash equivalents 412 828
COMPANY

In thousands of US dollars 2010 2009
Cash in bank, GBP 24 2
Total cash and cash equrvalents 24 2
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16. Company called up share capital

Allotted and 1ssued:

Number Class

50,000

Ordinary share

Nominal
value

£1

2010
%000
98

2008
$'000

98

As at 31 December 2010 the Company was owed US$ 58 thousand (2009 US$ 60 thousand) in refation to unpaid
share capital, which i1s included tn trade and other receivables

The Group's ultimate controling parttes are the trustees of the Bathana Famuly Trust by wirtue of therr majonty

shareholding in the Company

17. Group deferred tax assets and habilities

Deferred tax assets and Liabihlies are altnbutable to the following none of which are concerned with the Company, only

the other subsidiaries in the Group

in thousands of US dollars

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

Liquid fund (asset)

Trade and other receivables
Provisions

Empioyee benefits

Ligud fund

Other payables

Net tax assets/(liabilities)

In thousands of US dollars

Property, plant and egquipment
Intangible assets

Lrguid fund (asset)

Trade and other recevables
Provisions

Employee benefits

Liquid fund

Other payables

Asset Liabilitles Net
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
- - (61,857) (43,387) (61,857) (43,387)
- - (12,347) (10,0768) (12,347} (10.076)
- - - (209) - [209)
- 114 - - - 114
- 835 {249) - (249) 836
35 44 - - 35 44
- 424 - - - 424
137 B52 - - 137 652
172 2,070 (74,453) (53,672) (74,281) (51,602)
Group Recogrused in Recogrised In Group
2010 income equity 2009
(61,857) (18,470) - (43,387)
(12,347 (2.271) - {(10,076)
- 209 - (209)
- (114) - 114
(249) {1,085) . 836
35 {9 - 44
- (424) - 424
137 (515) - 652
(74,281) (22,679) - {51,602)

All temperary differences were recogmised i the statement of comprehensive income
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18 Provisions for Asset Retirement Obhgations

The Group's site restoration obligations in respect of GPK Karatau and GPK Chulaktau ("Mining assels”) are provided
by the subsurface use contracts ("Contract”) signed between Kazphosphate LLC and the Government of the Republic
of Kazakhstan The Group has a legal cbiigaticn to landfill site restoration during the rmining operations and
decommussioning of its assets afler s expected closure of the Mining assets

In Apnl 2009, the Group entered into two contracts for groundwater extraction and use at the terntory of ts branches
NDPhZ and MU These twe contracts are vald for 25 years and include a prowision for site restoration after the
Contract expiry date

tn 2008 the Group engaged an independent third party to evaluate future costs for landfill site restoration as at 31
December 2007 in relation to site and infrastruclure development built after the commencement of the Contract The
Group 1s not responsible for site restoration and infrastructure dismantling assets existing before the commencement of
the Contract Significant expenses are expected to be incurred in 2015 at the Contract expiry date in accordance with
valuation conducted by independent experts, the total fiiure costs for equipment decommssioning and site restoration
after the Contract expiry date was estimated US$ 4,242 thousand Future estimated cash outflows for site restoration
purposes were discounted at the rate of 14% and inflation rate of 8% based on the average rates on long-ierm
securiies of the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Kazakhstan (MUIKAM yield rate of 14 28 percent according to
information bulletin of the Natonal Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan) and weighted average inflation rate of 8
percent Discount unwinding 15 recognized as interest expense in the statement of comprehensive income within
finance costs

Mining asset retirement and restoration obhigations at 31 December 2010 and 2009 are estimated at a discount rate of
14% and inflation rale of 8% based on the average rates on the long-term secuniies of the Mimstry of Finance of the
Republic of Kazakhstan (MUIKAM yield rate of 14 28 percent according to the information bufletin of the National Bank
of the Republic of Kazakhslan) and weighted average inflation of 8%

In accordance with the comtractual terms, Kazphosphate LLC 1s required to make payments to a hguidation fund
regulated by the government of the Republic of Kazakhstan, and the paymenis are calculated as 0 1 percent of iis
operating costs In accordance with contractual terms, Kazphosphate LLC transfers cash to a long-term bank deposit
account to finance siie restoration in future At 31 December 2010, the lctal balance on spectal deposit was US$ 96
thousand (2009 US3 79 thousand)

Valued mining asset quidation and site restoration obligations should be seltled at the end of the useful ife of each
field varying from 2015-2017 Obligations on groundwater wells should be seltled afler the Contract expiry date in
2034

Movements in provisions for site restoration obligations are as follows

Groundwater
in thousands of US dollars QOre helds wells Total
Carrying amount at 31 December 2008 3,000 - 3,000
Additions to estimated assets - 63 63
Currency transiation (510} - (510}
Unwinding of the present value discount 350 - 350
Carrying amount at 31 December 2009 2,840 63 2,903
Additions to estimated assels - - -
Currency transtation (18) - (18)
Unwinding of the present value discount 403 5 408
Carrying amount at 31 December 2010 3,225 68 3,293
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19 Employee Benefits

In thousands of US dollars 2010 2009
Short-term portion of employee benefits g1 62
Long-term portion of employee benefits 637 981
Total employee benefits 718 1,043
Changes in the benefit obligations are as follows

in thousands of US doffars 2010 2009
Present value of defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the

year 1,043 718

Benefits paid (60) (70
Current service expenses 60 70
Acluanal (gains)/losses (338) 325
Discount unwinding expense 20 -
Currency Iranslation ) -
Present value of defined benefit obligation at end of year 718 1,043
Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position and profit or loss for the year i1s as follows

in thousands of US doflars 2010 2009
Present value of defined benefit obligation at end of year 718 1,043
Net hatility 718 1,043
Interest expense 20 -
Current service expenses &0 70
Actuanal (profitplosses {338) 325
Expense recognised in profit or lass for the year (258) 395

Current service expenses were Included n the statement of comprehensive income as part of general and

administrative expenses Actuanal gains were recognised Iin other comprehensive mcome

in thousands of US dollars 2010 2009

Cumulative amount of actuanal losses recognised in other comprehensive

income 705 1,043
Principal actuanal assumptions at the reporting date are as follows

In percentage 2010 2009

Discount rate at 31 December 79 89
Average labour turnover rate at 31 December 145 168
Future salary increases at 31 December 75 78

In 2010 the Group engaged an independent actuary R M Khaliyeva (actuarlal license No4 dated 28 November 2001
issued by the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan), and all employee benefit obligations as at the end of 2010
were brought into ine with the actuanal report The employee benefits obhgation was assessed independently by the

Group
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19. Employee Benefits (continued)

Assumptions on future benefit increase represents expected increase i monthly calculation index {MCI) which is the
basis for determining the amounts payable in accordance with the legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan
In 2010 in employee benefit obligations the following changes occurred

+ Changes in discount rales

« MCl s reconciled to the level established by the iegistation of the Republic of Kazakhstan

* MCl s attached to the inflatron rate

« Personnel turnover rate 1s changed based on actuanal assumptions
20. Borrowings
GROUP

The carrying amount and fair value of borrowing are as follow

Carrying amount Fair value

In thousands of US dollars 2010 2009 2010 2009
Kennon Finance 123,337 123,337 123,337 123,337
Limited
Drewes Management 9,418 5,418 9,418 9,418
SA
HSBC 30,582 22,592 30,582 22,592
Development Bank of

Kazakhstan - 17,206 - 17,208
Alfa-Bank 9,360 1,803 9,360 1,803
Total borrowings 172,697 174,356 172,697 174,356

HSBC On 25 November 2009, the Kazphosphate LLC, a subsidiary of the parent company, entered into a credit
facilily agreement with HSBC Bank Kazakhstan SB JSC ("HSBC") the total amount of credit available being US
doltars 40,000 thousand with matunty up to 25 May 2011 The purpose of this credit facility 1s working capital
financing required dunng normal course of the Company's operations

The credit facility 1s secured against property, plant and equipments and trade receivables from sale of yellow
phosphorus under the contracts signed between the Group and Fosfa Akciova Spolecanst, Ciech S A, ICL-IP
Bitterfeld GmbH, PCC Rokita S A, Reckitt Benckiser Production Sp Zoo

Kazphosphate LLC has certan restnctive covenants related to the shori-term loans provided under the credit
facility agreement with HSBC Restnctive covenants require compliance with certain financial indicators including
profitability ratio and financial leverage As of 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009 Kazphosphate LLC was
in comphance with the restnctive covenants

Alfa Bank On 22 October 2009, Kazphosphate LLC entered into a credit facility agreement with Alfa-Bank SB
JSC in the total amount of Kazakhstan Tenge 1,500,000 thousand with matunty up to 22 October 2012 The
purpose of this credit ine 1s working capital financing

Credit facihity 1s secured against Kazphosphate LLC's property, plant and equipments and trade recevables from
sale of sodium tripolyphosphate, tricalcium phosphate and thermal phosphonc acid under the contracts signed
between Kazphosphate LLC and Argo LLC, Riteks P LLC, Eurasia Holding LLC, Vinnicabythim JSC, Bustness
Allance LLC and other entities

Development Bank of Kazakhstan In June 2010, all loans from Development Bank of Kazakhstan JSC have
been repaid in full

Kennon Finance Limited 8 Drewes Management 5 A, the amounts owed to these companies by
Kazphosphate Limited, represent unsecured loans and have no fixed repayment date Kennon Finance Limited
and Drewes Management Limited are related parties to Kazphosphate Lirnited by wvirtue of common ownership
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20 Borrowings (continued)

The Group's borrowings are denommated in currencies as follow

in thousands of US dallars 2010 2009
Loans denominated in - US dollar 166,637 172,553
- Tenge 6,060 1,803
Total borrowings 172,697 174,356
Norunal interest rates at the reporting date were as follows
In percentage 2010 2009
HSBC 10 10
Development Bank of Kazakhstan - 10-13
Alfa-Bank 9 5-12 12
COMPANY \
The carrying amount and fair value of borrowing are as follow
Carrying amount Fair Value
In thousends of US doffars 2010 2009 2010 2009
Kennon Finance Limited 123,337 123,337 123,337 123,337
Drewes Management Limited 9,418 9,418 9.418 9,418
Kazphosphate LLC 8,829 8,584 8,829 8,584
Total borrowings 141,584 141,339 141,584 141,339
The Company’s borrowings are denominated in currencies as follow
In thousands of US dollars 2010 2009
Loans denominated n - US dollar 140,932 140,939
- Pound sterling 558 350
- Euro 94 50
Total borrowings 141,584 141,339
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21. Trade and Other Payables

GRQUP
in thousands of US doflars 2010 2009
Financial habilities
Trade payables 12,456 14,184
Total financial habilities 12,456 14,184
Non-financial liabiifies
Payables to employees 1,721 1,502
Payables to pension funds 209 176
Other payables 62 978
Total non-financial llabilittes 1,992 2,656
Trade and other payables 14,448 16,840
Trade payables are denominated tn the following currencies
in thousands of US dollars 2010 2009
Tenge 9,632 9,777
US Dollars 1,988 2,508
Russtan ruble 142 1,365
Euro 674 461
Pounds Sterling 20 71
Total payables 12,456 14,184
COMPANY
In thousands of US dollars 2010 2009
Trade payables 20 71
Social securnty and other taxes 2 1
Total trade and other receivables 22 72
22. Other Taxes Payable
In thousands of US dollars 2010 20098
Minerals extraction tax {royally in 2008) 913 487
Environmental emission payments 507 356
Social lex 111 131
Indvtdual income tax 100 128
Payable to soctal fund 3 71
Corporate withholding tax 153 1
VAT 96 101
Custams fee 117 B
Qther 7 3
Total other taxes payable 2,007 1,276
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23. Revenue

In thousands of US Doflars 2010 2009
Yellow phosphorus 112,205 68,348
Sodium tripolyphosphate 41,654 42,966
Ammophos 30,306 34,993
Phosphonc raws 14,158 8,709
Tncalcium phosphate 5,733 8,017
Thermal phospheone acid 5,439 5,493
inventories 1,137 2,115
Services 983 1,988
Granulated slag 4,108 978
RTC services 1,691 948
Ammaonia water 563 288
Rent 575 242
Limestone 441 236
Superphosphate 388 230
Ferrophosphorus 276 222
Oxygen 150 158
Dolomite 10 123
Other products 30 69
Total revenue 219,847 176,123
An analysis of the Group's revenue by geographical market 1s given below

in thousands of IS dollars 201¢ 2009
European Union and Switzerland 122,925 39.663
Commonweatth of Independent States (former USSR) 57,269 47 676
Kazakhsian 20,584 85,842
Asia 7.513 2,836
Americas 67 106
Other 11,489 -
Total revenue 219,847 176,123
24, Cost of Sales

In thousands of US Dollars 2010 2009
Raw matenals 115,822 77,347
Electnicity 26,380 23,042
Changes n inventories of fimshed goods and work in progress 9,885 8,600
Repair and maintenance 3,749 10,331
Payroll and related expenses 7.529 9,919
Depreciation 9,256 8775
Provision for obsolete and slow moving inventory 825 270
Insurance cost 68 140
Total cost of sales 173,614 138,424
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25 Other Operating Income

In thousands of US Dollars 2010 2009
Liabiiies write off 25 32
Gain on disposal of property plant and equipment 485 -
Other 218 168
Total other operating income 728 200
26. Distnbution Costs
In thousands of US Dollars 2010 2008
Transportation services — export 24,144 14,647
Matenals and reparr 2,738 3,323
Payroll and related expense 2,415 2,307
Electncity 365 474
Depreciation 2,953 1,962
Information services 2 243
Business tnips and representative expenses 321 240
Certification 94 107
Insurance 86 206
Commun:cation expenses 68 61
Customs services 42 47
Advertising costs 30 24
Other 545 243
Total distnbution costs 33,803 23,638
27 General and Administrative Expenses
I thousands of US Dollars 2010 2009
Payroll and related expenses 5,509 5,838
Production suspension expenses 1,550 4,820
Provision for impairment of trade and olher recevables
and advances given (1,205) 3,649
Maintenance, repar and materals 826 1,273
Communication and IT expenses 327 898
Taxes, other than income tax 827 838
Supervisory Board expenses 375 657
Business tnips and representative expenses 521 615
Consuiting services 635 605
Depreciation and amortisation 8,679 7,216
Bank charges 378 408
Utdities 168 384
Rent 378 408
Tax fines and penalties 54 285
Securdy services 315 273
Sponsorship and chanty 203 135
Legal services 132 183
Insurance 123 32
Accountancy 77 101
Parent company and conschdated audit remuneration” a7 32
Other 1,177 361
Total general and administrative expenses 18,884 28,981

* Remuneration to the auditors’ of subsidiaries 15 included within Consulting services
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28. Other Operating Expenses

In thousands of US Dollars 2040 2009
Losses on dispasal of property, plant and equipment 100 (15)
and on shortage of inventones

QOther 40 125
Total other operating expenses 140 110
29, Finance Income and Costs

in thousands of US Dollars 2010 2008
Finance income

Interest income on bank deposit 3 631
Foreign exchange gamn from cash and cash equivalents 37 1,073
Foreign exchange gain from borrowings 718 834
Other Interest income 341 29
Total finance income 1,099 2,567
Finance costs

Foreign exchange loss from borrowings {475} {10,804)
Foreign exchange loss from cash and cash equivalents 31) (1,343)
Interest expense on borrowings (4,.814) (5,765)
Assel retirement obligations unwinding of present value discount (408) (359)
Forergn exchange loss from interest expense (3 (167)
Total finance costs {5,731} {18,438)
30 Income Tax

in thousands of US Dollars 2010 2009
Current income tax 817) 1
Deferred income tax expense/(benefit) (22,219) {9,409)
Income tax expense/(benefit) 23,136 (9,408}

Differences between [FRS and statutory taxation regulations gives nise to temporary differences between the carrying
amount of assets and habilities for financial reporting purposes and their income tax bases The tax effect of the
movements in these temporary differences 1s detaled below, and 1s recorded at the rate apphcable to period of assets

realisation or iabibties seitlement

in thousands of US dollars

Loss before income tax
Income {ax {expense)/benefil at apphcable tax rate
Non-deduciible/non-taxable items

Change In tax rate
Current tax (charge)/benefit

28%

2009

(7,5682)
2123 28%

(2.049)

(73)

1

——————————————
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31. Employee information

The Group's total staff costs (including directors) were

in thousands of US dollars 2010 2009
Wages and salanes, other bonuses and related expenses 31,063 31,303
Post-employment benefits and other long-term benefits (Note 19} (278) 395
Total staff costs 30,785 31,698

The average number of employees for the period was 5,868 (2009 6,171)

Production 4,423 5,752
Distnbution 13 26
Administration 1,422 393
Tota! 5,858 6,171

The directors of Kazphosphate Limited did not receive any remuneration from the Company or the Group dunng the
current penod

32. Balances and Transactions with Related Parties

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party, 1s under commeon control, or
can exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operational decisions In considenng
each possible refated pary relationship, attention 1s directed to the substance of the refationship, not merely the legal
form

The nature of the related party relationshups for those related parties with whom the Group entered into significant
transactions or had significant balances outstanding at 31 December 2010 and 2009 are detalled below

Entittes under Entities under

commoaon control common control

in thousands of US dollars Note 2010 2009

Loans receivable 13 2,745 2,763

Restricted cash, non-current (Delta Bank) 95 79
Wages, salanes and short-term benefits

payable - 3

Borrowings, (Kennon Finance Limited) 123,337 123,337

Borrowings, {Drewes Management S A ) 9,418 9,418

Of the above balances the total borrowings of US $ 132,755 thousand also represent related party transactions for the
Company as a single entity All other related party transaction relating to the Company as a single entity are with
members of the Group are elmiated on consolidation and do not need to be disclosed in accordance with IAS 24

The income and expense items with related parties for the year ended 31 December 2010 were as follows
Entities under Entities under

common common

control control

In thousands of US dollars 2010 2009
General and administrative expenses 44 49
Finance inceme (inferest income) 3 572
Finance cost (interest expense) 4 38

The key management compensation i 2010 and 2009 was included within general and administrative expenses The
totat key management compensation cost for the year was as follows

In thousands of US dollars 2010 2009
Wages, salarnes, other bonuses and related expenses 294 286
Total key management compensation 2384 286
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33. Conlingencies, Commitments and Operating Risks

Polttical and econonmic situation i Kazakhstan The Greup's largest trading subsidiary Kazphosphate LLC
operates in  Kazakhstan In  general, the economy of the Country confinues (o  display
the charactenstics of an emerging market These charactenstics include, but are not Iimited 1o, the existence of a
national currency that 1s not freely convertible outside of the country and a low levet of hquidity of debt and equity
secunties in the markets

The muning seclor in Kazakhstan 1s still impacted by pohtical, legistative, fiscal and regulatory developments The
prospects for econonic stability i Kazakhstan are largely dependent upon the effectiveness of econromic measures
undertaken by the government, together with legal, reguiatory and poltical developments, which are beyond the
Group's control

The financial condition and future operations of the Group may be adversely affecled by continued economic
difficulbes related mainty to the current situation in the global financial markets Management 1s unable to predict
the extent and duration of the econormic difficulhes, nor guantfy the impact, if any, on these financial statements

Tax and transfer pricing legislation Kazakh tax legrslation and practice 1s in a state of continuous development, and
therefore 1s subject to varying interpretations and frequent changes, which may be retroactive Further, the
interpretalion of tax legislation by tax authorities as applied to the transactions and activilies of the Group may not
coincide with that of management As a resull, tax authonttes may challenge transactions and the Group may be
assessed for addilional taxes, penalties and fines Tax periods remain open to review by the Kazakh tax authorities for
five years

Whilst there 1s a nsk that the Kazakh tax authanties may challenge the policies, including those relating to transfer
pricing and excess profits tax legislaion The management beheves lhat they would be successful in defending any
such challenge and notes that the amount of potential claim of the fax authonties cannot be reliably estimated

Accordingly, at 31 December 2010, the financial statements do not include any provisions for potential tax habilties
{200S no prowvision)

in 2009 the tax authonties conducled a detaled tax audd on proper lax assessment and timely payment of taxes and
other obligatory payments to the budget, including excess profit tax for years ended 31 Becember 2006, 2007 and
2008 Based on the results of the tax audit, no sigruficant violations were dentified

Changes in tax legisfation On 10 December 2008 the President of Republic of Kazakhstan signed a new Tax Code
and other legistative acts following the introduction of the new Tax Code, which came into force starting from 1 January
2009 Durning 2008 the government continued to introduce amendments to the Tax Code The key changes made
include replacement of the royalty by the mineral extraction tax with the increase In rates from 14 percent lo 162
percent from 2009 till 2012 and up to 16 8 percent 1n 2013, up to 17 percent in 2014, reduction of the corporate mcome
fax rates from 30 percent to 20 percent from 2009 ull 2012, down to 17 5 percenl n 2013, 15 percent in 2014,
reduction of the VAT from 13 percent to 12 percent, introduction of the fixed social tax rale of 11 percent, increase in
the property tax rate from 1 percent to 15 percent in relation to the taxable base which includes only immovable
property and cancellation of the property tax in relation to other property, change in the methodology of excess profit
tax cafculations, and other changes

On 26 November 2010 the President of the Republic of Kazakhsian signed a law concerring the itroduction of
amendments into the tax code effective from 1 January 2011 The main amendments include the canceltation of the
decrease of corporate iIncome tax rate and fixing it at the level of 20% without any changes in subsequent periods

Commutments under subsurface use contracts As a part of costs on the acquisiticn of subseil use rights, the Group
has a commitment te financing socral programs which are beneficial far the Zhambyi region of Kazakhstan as a whole
The Group will not receive any direct benefit from such costs but they are obtigatory in accordance with the provisions
on acguisition of subsurface use nghis According to the addendums to the contracts for phosphoric ore,
Kazphosphale LLC should annually pay Tenge 15,000 thousand unti! the conlract expiry date for the development of
Zhambyl region Moreover, similar payments i the amount of Tenge 1,600 thousand are provided under the contracts
for ground water production These social cosis were recogrmised as a part of acquistion costs and were capitahised,
and relevant habiities were recognised at present value of future social costs within the exploration and production
penod As at 31 December 2010 the Group recognized current habihities in the amount of US$ 113 thousand (2009
US$ 113 thousand) and non-current habihiies in the amount of US$ 568 thousand (2009 US$ 666 thousand)

According to the contracts for phasphoric ore Kazphosphate LLC makes payments for obligatary and voluntary social
development programs The cosis on social development programs are expensed as incurred based on therr
occurrence For the year ended 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009 Kazphosphate LLC tncurred the following
costs in this respect USS 1,016 thousand and US$ 873 thousand, respectively
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33. Contingencies, Commitments and Operating Risks (continued)

According to the contracts for phosphonc ore extraction, Kazphosphate LLC 1s hable for financing staff professional
traiung programs Kazphosphate LLG 1s required (o spend not less than 1% of ils operating expenses for siaff
professional training programs on an annual basts These costs are expensed as incurred

Caputal expenditure commutments At 31 December 2010 the Group has contractual capual expenditure
comimitments on property, plant and equipment purchase totalling US$ 7,762 thousand (2009 US$ 773 thousand)

The Group beleves that future nef income and funding will be sufficient to caver this and any simidar commitments

Operating lease commitments \Where the Group 15 a lessee, the fulure mmmum lease payments under the non-
cancellable operating leases are USS$ 27 thousand per manth untit Octoher 2011

In thousands of US dollars 2010 2009
Within one year 243 324
1 -2 vyears - 243
Total 243 567

Insurance policies The Group holds insurance pohicies in relation to the following risks
- Insurance of property,

- Insurance of cvit responsibility of employer for causing damage to Iife and health of employee dunng his/her work
duties,

- Insurance of civil responsibility of employer for causing damage to environment,
- Insurance of civil responsibility of vehicles owners,
- Insurance of cvil respansibity of property owners, operations which can cause damage to thurd parties

Environmental matters The enforcement of environmental regulation in the Republic of Kazakhstan 1s evolving and
the enforcement posture of government authorities Is continually being reconsidered The Greup penodicatly evaluates
its obligatrons under environmental regulations As obligations are determined, they are recognised immediately in the
financial statements Thus, due to adoption of the Ecology Code of the Republic of Kazakhstan, during 2008 the Group
created a bquidation fund to provide for landfill site restoration and environmental monitonng upon closure In addition
to the hquidation fund, representing a special account for accumulation of funds, the Group accrued a provision for
landfill site restoration obligations The amount of the accrued prowision for fandfill sie restoration obligations was
based on management's best estimates of future costs which will be Incurred by the Group for repayment of its current
habilities In the current enforcement climate under existing legislation, management believes that there are no
significant labmilies for environmental damage

The new Tax Code of the Republic of Kazakhstan 1s effectve from 1 January 2009, whereby the emission payment
rates are mcreased and levying procedure 1s updated

Environmental protection management system ISO 14001 and quality management syslem 1SO-9001 are implemented
in NDPhZ and MU divisions In 2009 the Group introduced a health and labour safety management system basec on
OHSAS 18001 and recerved a certificate of compliance wilh the standard effective until August 2011 (1S0-9001) and
Apnl 2013 (1ISO-14001, OHSAS 18001)

The Group’s management also developed and approved a number of pelicies on quality, environmental prolection,
health and labour safety, the main purposes of which are sinct observance of requirements and expectations of
consumers and other related parties on product quality, environmental pollutton prevention, heaith and labour safety

Page | 41




KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED
NOTES TQ THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — 31 DECEMBER 2010

34. Financial Risk Management

Financlal nsk factors The Group's activiies expose it to a varnety of financial nsks market nsk, (ncluding foreign
exchange risk), hquidity nsk and credt nsk The Group's overall msk management programme focuses on
the unpredictatility of financial markets and seeks to minimise polentizlly adverse effects on the Group's financial
performance

(a) Credit risk

Financial assets, which potentially subject the Group to credit nisk, consist principally of trade recewvables, loans
recewable, cash and cash equivalenis and restricted cash

The Group has developed polictes to ensure that sales of products and services are made to customers with an
appropnate credit history and good reputation Chents which do nol meet the Group's solvency requirements may have
transactions with the Group only on the terms of prepayments Maximum credit nsk exposure represents the current
carrying value of trade receivables, loans recevable, cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash

Cash is placed in finangial institutions, which are considered at the time of deposit to have a mimimal rnsk of default
Additionally, the Group analyses the external credut ratings of these financial institutions

Although collection of receivables could be influenced by economic faclors, management believes that there 1s no
significant nisk of loss to the Group beyond the provisions for recewables impawment already recorded

The table below shows the credit ratings as of 31 December 2010 and balances with banks and financial institutions
where cash and cash equivalents and ierm deposits were ptaced as of 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009

In thousands of US doflars

Rating 31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Cash and cash equivalents

Kazkommertsbank JSC B/ Stable/C (S&P) 33 818
BTA Bank JSC B-IStablel-- (S&P) 19 2
Bank CenterCredit B1ifNegative (Moody's) 30 1
Halyk Bank of Kazakhstan JSC B+/ MNegalve/B (S&P) 3 1
Development Bank of Kazakhstan JSC BBB-/ Stable/A-3 (S&F) - 1
HSBC Bank Kazakhstan 8B JSC 888 (Fich) ] 1
HSBC Bank pic (UK) AA (Fiich) 23 2
Alfa-Bank SB JSC B+ Positive/B (S&P) 279 1
Delta Bank OJSC B/Stable (S&P) 3 1
Foreign exchange difference 17 -
Total cash and cash equivalents 412 828
Restncted cash

Delta Bank QJSC, Almaty branch B/Stable (S&P) 96 79
Total restricted cash 96 79

{b) Market risk

Foreign exchange risk Foreign exchange nsk anses when future foreign currency inflows or recognized assels and
habilties are denominated in currency other than the Group's funclional currency

The Group exports its products to European and CIS markets and attracts long-term borrowings and lrades payable
are denominated In foreign currency As a result, the Group s exposed to foreign exchange nsk Produchon and
processing cosis are denommated in Kazakh Tenge, while a porhion of the revenues are denominated in US doliars,
Euro and Russian rubles Thus, the Group 1$ exposed to nsk that changes 1n exchange rates affect both revenue and
financial position
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The table below shows the total amount of foreign currency denommated assets and labiliies within Kazphosphate
LLC being the only material balances that give rise to foreign exchange exposure at 31 December 2010 and 2009

At 31 December 2010

Russian
In thousands of /S dollars Tenge ruble Us dollar Euro Pounds Total
Financial assets 4,870 4,952 20,239 95 558 30,514
Financtal labilities {16.519) {142) {(35,985) (674) - (53,320)
Net balance position (11,849) 4,810 {15,746) (579) 558 (22 806)

At 31 December 2009

Russian
in thousands of US dollars Tenge ruble US dollar Euro Pounds Total
Financial assets 5,181 3,994 16,642 50 348 27,216
Financial labiities (13,206} (1,028) {42,174) (467) - {56,875)
Net balance position {7.025) 2,966 (25,532) (497) 349 {29,659)

The Group does nct have any formai arrangements to mitigate the foreign exchange nisks of the Group's
operations

Price nisk The Group is not exposed to equity securthies price nsk since it does not hold a portfolio of quoted equity
securiies

Interest rate risk The Group's revenues and operating cash flows take on exposure to the effects of market interest
rales since interest rales on loans recewved ffom HSBC Bank Kazakhsian SB JSC, Alfa-Bank SB JSC and
Development Bank of Kazakhstan JSC are fixed Al the same time, the Group 18 exposed to the changes in fair value
related to interest rates

The Group does not have any formal arrangements to analyse and miugate interest rate risks

Liabiities under which the effects of interest rate nisks occurred al 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009 are
disclosed in Note 20

(¢} Liguidity sk Liquidity risk 1s defined as the rnisk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations
associated with financial liabiities The Group's approach lo liguidity management s {o ensure the continuous and
sufficient hquidity to meet the Group's habihlies as they fall due (poth under standard and non-standard situations),
preventing unacceptable losses or reputation damage
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Below 1s the information on contractual terms of financial habiities settiement, including mterest payments as of

31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009

Cash flows
Carrying under Within 1-3 3-12 15 Over
in thousands of US dollars valueg agreement 1 month months months year 5 years
Liabilities
Borrowings 172,864 172,864 - 12,106 28,003 - 132,755
Trade and other payables® 14177 14 177 1,721 12,456 - B -
Provision for socral development 881 681 - - 113 568
Totai 187,722 187,722 1,721 24,562 28,116 133,323
Cash flows 1-5
Carrying under wWithin 1-3 3-12 yea Over
In thousands of US dolfars value agreement 1 month months months rs 5 years
Liabilities
Boricwings 174,623 174,623 1.586 5,372 26,665 - 141,000
Trade and other payables’ 15,686 15,688 1,502 14,184 - - -
Proviston for social development 779 993 - - 113 380
Total 191,088 191,302 3,088 19,556 26,778 - 141,880

* Advances received claim provision and estimated habiliies are not included

35 Capital Risk Management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are lo safeguard the Group's ability {o continue as a going concermn In
order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintam an optimal capial
structure o reduce the cost of capital The Group monitors capital based on the geanng ratio This ratio is assessed as
net debt to the total amount of capitai Net debt 1s assessed as total debt amount (including shor-term and long-term
bank loans recarded i the stalement of financial postion) nel of cash and cash equivalents and term deposits The
{otal amount of capital 1s assessed as the amount of equity recorded In the statement of financial position and net debt

in thousands of US dofiars Note 2010 2008
Total loans 172,864 174,623
Less Cash and cash equivalents 15 {412) (828)
Net debt 172,452 173,795
Total own capnal 300,782 347,726
Total capital 473,234 521,521
Financial leverage ratio 57% 33%
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36. Financial Instruments by Measurement Category

The accouniing policies for financial Instruments have been apphed to line items below
In thousands of US dollars 2010 2009

Loans and receivables

Restricted cash 96 79
Trade recevablies 18,210 14,765
Loans receivable 2,745 3,237
Cash and cash equivalents 412 828
Long term receiwvables 18 37
Advances given - 875
Total financial assets 21,481 19,821

Other financial habilities

Borrowings 172,697 174,356
Trade payables 12,456 14,184
Provision for social development of the region, non-current

portion . 568 665
Provision for social development of the region, current

portion 113 113
interest payable 167 267
Advances received - 2,543
income tax liabihty 255 125
Other taxes payable 2,007 1,275
Total inancial habllities 188,263 193,530

37. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair value 15 the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing
parties, other than in a forced sale or hquidation, and 1s best evidenced by an active quoted market price

The estimated fair values of financial instruments have been determined by the Group using avalable market
informatton, where « exists, and appropriate valuatton methodologies However, judgment is necessarly required io
interpret market data to determine the estimated fair value The Republic of Kazakhstan continues to displfay some
characteristics of an emerging market and economic conditions continue to hmit the volume of activity tn the financial
markets Market quotations may be outdated or reflect distress sale transactions and therefore not represent far
values of financial instruments Management has used all avallable market information 1in estimating the farr vaiue of
financial nstruments

Financial assets carrred at amortised cost The estimated fair value of fixed Iinterest rate instruments 1s based on
estimated future cash flows expected {o be received discounted at current interest rales for new Instruments with
similar credit sk and remaining maturity Discount rates used depend on credi risk of the counterparty The carying
amounts of trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents, resiricted cash and loans receivable approximate farr values
due to thewr short term matunties

Liabihties carried at amortised cost The estimated fair value of fixed interest rate instruments with stated matunty,
for which a quoted market pnce 1s not available, was estimated based on expecied cash flows discaunted at current
mterest rates for new instruments with similar credit nsk and remaining matunty Due to short maturrhies the carrying
amount of trade payables and borrowings approximate therr fair values
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38. Subsequent events

In April 2011 HSBC Bank Kazakhstan and JSC ATF Bank signed an agreement with Kazphosphate LLC for the prowvision
of a syndicated loan m the amount of US$ 50 milhon for the construction of a sulphuric acid workshop on the basis of a
mineral fertiizer plant This project is implemented in accordance with the instructions of the President of the Repubhc of
Kazakhslan, N A Nazarbayev within the chemical industry development program m the Republic of Kazakhstan The
implementation of this project will allow

an increase in the productions of Kazakh fertlizers up to 800 tonnes per annum,

to ensure the production of mineral fertlizers using nternal etectnicty faciliies up ta 25 mw/,

to create jobs,

to reduce the dependence on external suppliers of sulphurnc acid,

to reduce the cost of mineral fertilizers,

to ensure 100% provision of Kazakh agnicullural praducers with the mineral fertiizers and to increase
competitivengss in global markets,

As of the reporting date borrowings of US$ 8 milllon were invested in the construction of the suiphunc acid production
workshop

{n May 2011 and agreement was signed between Kazphosphate LLC and the Czech company Fosfa as for the creation
of a joint veniure for production of sodium hexametaphosphate and other ammonia ferrous sulphates The estimated
production capacity of the producing ptantis 5,000 tonnes per annum

In June 2011 the Group decided to dispose of its 100% shareholding in the company Lamberto LLC
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